
Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

Wednesday 27 June 2018
3pm
Warspite Room, Council House

Members:
Councillor Ball, Chair
Councillor Winter, Vice Chair
Councillors Darcy, Derrick, Kelly, Singh, Rebecca Smith, Kate Taylor and Vincent.

Members are invited to attend the above meeting to consider the items of business overleaf.

This meeting will be webcast and available on-line after the meeting.  By entering the Council 
Chamber, councillors are consenting to being filmed during the meeting and to the use of the 
recording for the webcast.

The Council is a data controller under the Data Protection Act.  Data collected during this 
webcast will be retained in accordance with authority’s published policy.

For further information on attending Council meetings and how to engage in the democratic 
process please follow this link - Get Involved

Tracey Lee
Chief Executive

Oversight and Governance
Chief Executive’s Department
Plymouth City Council
Ballard House
Plymouth  PL1 3BJ

Please ask for  Helen Prendergast, 
Democratic Support Officer
T 01752  668000
E democracticsupport@plymouth.gov.uk
www.plymouth.gov.uk
Published 19 June 2018

https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/councillorscommitteesandmeetings/getinvolved
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/councillorscommitteesandmeetings


Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee

1. To Note the Appointment of Chair and Vice Chair  

The Committee will be asked to note the appointment of the Chair and Vice Chair for 
the forthcoming municipal year 2018/19.

2. Apologies  

To receive apologies for non-attendance submitted by Councillors.

3. Declarations of Interest  

Councillors will be asked to make any declarations of interest in respect of items on the 
agenda.

4. Chair's Urgent Business  

To receive reports on business which in the opinion of the Chair, should be brought 
forward for urgent consideration.

5. Terms of Reference (Pages 1 - 12)

6. Corporate Finance Monitoring Report Q4 and Outturn (Pages 13 - 30)

7. Corporate Performance Monitoring Report Q4 (Pages 31 - 80)

8. Work Programme (Pages 81 - 82)



Appendix 1

Appendix 1
OFFICIAL
MAY 2018

Article 7 – Overview and Scrutiny Committees

7.1 Appointment of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees

The Council will appoint a number of Overview and Scrutiny Committees to discharge the 
functions conferred by Section 21 of the Local Government Act 2000, Health and Social 
Care Act 2012, National Health Service Act 2006, the Police and Justice Act 2006 and any 
subsequent regulations.

7.2 Proceedings of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees

The Overview and Scrutiny Committees will conduct their proceedings in accordance with 
the Overview and Scrutiny Procedures in Part D of the Constitution.



Appendix 1

Appendix 1
OFFICIAL
MAY 2018

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 
CONSTITUTION

PART  D

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY
FUNCTIONS & PROCEDURES



Appendix 1
OFFICIAL
MAY 2018

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY FUNCTIONS

1. AIMS OF THE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROCESS 

The aims of the Overview and Scrutiny process are to- 

 add value to Council business and decision-making;

 hold the Cabinet to account;

 monitor the budget and performance of services;

 assist the Council in the development of policy and review the effectiveness of the 
implementation of Council policy;

 review relevant central government policy development and legislation to assess the 
impact on the City and make recommendations to Cabinet.

2. ROLE OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES

The relevant scrutiny committee will: 

 hear call-ins, Councillor’s call for action and petitions; 
 approve time limited select committees for issues within its remit; 
 monitor performance against the relevant corporate priorities; 
 receive finance and performance reports;
 agree recommendations to Cabinet, Council and partner organisations; 
 agree appointments of co-opted representatives; 
 monitor the forward plan; 
 help Council and the Cabinet to develop policy by studying issues in detail through time 

limited Select Committees; 
 review new and developing legislation to assess its impact on the city;
 consider and introduce schemes to involve the public in developing policy; 
 work with national, regional and local organisations to promote the interest of local 

people.

3. COMMITTEE ROLES

3.1 Brexit, Infrastructure and Legislative Change Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

Responsibility for

 Relevant policies in the Plymouth Plan
 Response to Central Government’s Policy Making
 Capital Programme
 Strategic Procurement
 Corporate Property



Appendix 1
OFFICIAL
MAY 2018

 Development planning
 Strategic Highways
 Economic Development
 Heart of the South West Productivity Plan
 Strategic Transport policies and strategies
 Cultural Infrastructure
 Climate change and sustainability
 Reviewing impact of  Brexit on the city 
 Proposing measures that Government should take to provide stability for the 

council and partners in light of Brexit
 Exploring powers could be devolved from the EU directly to local authorities
 Hear call-ins relevant to the role of the committee

Partnership links

 Growth Board
 Joint Committee for Heart of the South West
 Heart of the South West Local Enterprise Partnership

Membership - All members of the Committee will adhere to the general rules of 
Overview and Scrutiny.  There are nine members of the Committee including the Chair 
and Vice Chair.  

Chair – The Chair will be from the group in administration.

Vice Chair – The Vice Chair will be from the opposition group.

Urgent Decisions – Urgent decisions will be reviewed by the Chair with relevant 
responsibilities

3.2 Performance, Finance and Customer Focus Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Responsibility for -

 Relevant policies in the Plymouth Plan
 Corporate Performance Monitoring
 Financial Performance Monitoring
 Annual Budget Setting Process
 Medium Term Financial Strategy
 Revenues and benefits
 Communications
 Homelessness
 Human resources
 Audit and Risk
 Transformation
 Bereavement Services and Register Office
 Community Safety
 Customer Services



Appendix 1
OFFICIAL
MAY 2018

 Street scene and Waste
 Parking
 Hear call-ins relevant to the role of the committee

Partnership links
 Health and Wellbeing Board
 Safer Plymouth 
 Police and Crime Panel

Membership - All members of the Committee will adhere to the general rules of 
Overview and Scrutiny.  There are nine members of the Committee including the Chair 
and Vice Chair.  

Chair – The Chair will be from the opposition group.

Vice Chair – The Vice Chair will be from the group in administration.

Urgent Decisions – Urgent decisions will be reviewed by the Chair with relevant 
responsibilities

3.3 Education and Children’s Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Responsibility for- 

 Relevant policies in the Plymouth Plan
 Early Years Services
 Schools, colleges and other educational settings
 Child Poverty
 Special Education Needs, behaviour and attendance, narrowing the gap in outcomes
 Safeguarding Children
 Cared for children
 Youth offending
 Adoption and Fostering
 Corporate Parenting
 Hear call-ins relevant to the role of the committee

Partnership Links
 Plymouth Safeguarding Children’s Board
 Plymouth Education Board 
 Health and Wellbeing Board
 Regional Adoption Agency
 Children’s Partnership

Membership - All members of the Committee will adhere to the general rules of 
Overview and Scrutiny.  There are nine members of the Committee including the Chair 
and Vice Chair.  

Chair – The Chair will be from the opposition group.



Appendix 1
OFFICIAL
MAY 2018

Vice Chair – The Vice Chair will be from the group in administration.

Urgent Decisions – Urgent decisions will be reviewed by the Chair with relevant 
responsibilities

3.4 Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee

Responsibility for -

 Relevant policies in the Plymouth Plan
 Integrated Commissioning
 Hospital and community health services 
 dental services, pharmacy and NHS ophthalmic services;
 public health services
 Adult Social Care Services
 Adult Safeguarding Services
 Hear call-ins relevant to the role of the committee

Statutory Role with regard to undertaking all the statutory functions in accordance with 
Section 244, of the National Health Act 2006, (as amended by Health and Social Care Act 
2012) regulations and guidance under that section.

Partnership Links
 Health and Wellbeing Board
 Plymouth Safeguarding Adults Board
 Integrated Commissioning Board

Membership - All members of the Committee will adhere to the general rules of 
Overview and Scrutiny.  There are 9 members of the Committee including the Chair and 
Vice Chair.  The Vice Chair is from the opposite political group to the Chair.

Chair – The Chair will be from the group in administration.

Vice Chair – The Vice Chair will be from the opposition group.

Urgent Decisions – Urgent decisions will be reviewed by the Chair with relevant 
responsibilities

OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY PROCEDURES

4. CONFLICTS OF INTEREST

Unless they have a dispensation, members of the Overview and Scrutiny Committees 
cannot scrutinise decisions they were involved in taking and must leave the room when 
these decisions are scrutinised. Before they leave they can make representations and 
answer questions or give evidence if other members of the public would also have this 
right.



Appendix 1
OFFICIAL
MAY 2018

5. PROCEDURE WHEN A COUNCILLOR RESIGNS FROM A COMMITTEE

A Councillor can resign from a Committee by writing to the Monitoring Officer.
A replacement member will be confirmed at the next Council meeting.

6. PROCEDURE WHEN A COMMITTEE MEMBER STOPS BEING A 
COUNCILLOR

If a Committee member stops being a Councillor, a replacement member will be confirmed 
at the next full Council meeting.

7. CO-OPTED MEMBERS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES 

7.1 Non-voting co-opted members can serve on an Overview and Scrutiny Committees or for 
a specific policy review. 

7.2 Co-opted members cannot vote unless they have the legal right to do so.

7.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Committee that deals with education matters will appoint four 
(statutory) co-opted members (two parent governor representatives and two church 
representatives). One of the church representatives will be nominated by the Diocesan 
Board of Education for the Church of England diocese and the other will be nominated by 
the Bishop of the Roman Catholic diocese within the area.

8. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE MEETINGS

8.1 The annual calendar for Overview and Scrutiny Committee meetings is set by Council. If 
Overview and Scrutiny Committees need to have extra meetings, they set the dates 
themselves.

8.2 The Chair is responsible for the start times of committees in consultation with the 
Monitoring Officer.

8.3 The Monitoring Officer or the Overview and Scrutiny Committee Chair can decide to call 
a special meeting.

8.4 If a Committee has no business at one of its fixed meetings, the Monitoring Officer can 
cancel it after consulting the chair.

9. SUBSTITUTES, QUORUM AND TRAINING

9.1 Members of the Committees can send other Councillors (who must belong to the same 
political group) as substitutes. Substitutes have the powers of an ordinary member of the 
committee.

9.2 Substitutions must be for a whole meeting. A member cannot take over from their 
substitute or hand over to them part way through a meeting.



Appendix 1
OFFICIAL
MAY 2018

9.3 If a member wants to send a substitute, they must inform the Monitoring Officer before 
the meeting.

9.4 Substitutes cannot appoint substitutes of their own.

9.5 If a Councillor is a member of a Select Committee Review, once the group has started its 
work, no substitution is allowed.

9.6 The quorum for a meeting is three members 

10. CHAIRS AND VICE-CHAIRS OF OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEES

10.1 Election of chair and vice-chair

Chairs and vice-chairs are appointed at the annual meeting of Council.

10.2 Resignation of chair or vice-chair

If a Councillor wants to resign as chair or vice-chair, they must write to the Monitoring 
Officer. A new chair or vice-chair will be confirmed at the Committee’s next ordinary 
meeting.

11. PROGRAMME OF WORK

The Overview and Scrutiny Committees set their own programmes of work. The 
Committees must also review anything they are asked to review by Council. 

12. CALL IN

Items called in will be heard at a meeting of the relevant committee within 10 working days 
of the end of the call in period relating to that item.

13. AGENDA

13.1 Councillors’ rights

Any Councillor may place any local government matter (other than excluded matters – see 
below) which is relevant to the functions of the Committee or board on the agenda of a 
meeting.  The Councillor will be invited to attend the meeting at which the item is to be 
considered and to explain the reasons for the request.

13.2 Considering matters

When considering a local government matter referred by a Councillor, the Committee will 
decide whether to:
 

(a) review or scrutinise a decision taken by the cabinet or cabinet member;



Appendix 1
OFFICIAL
MAY 2018

(b) make a report or recommendation to the Council or cabinet on how cabinet 
carries out its functions;

(c) review or scrutinise a decision taken by a Council body other than the cabinet or a 
cabinet member;

(d) make a report or recommendation to the Council or the cabinet on how a Council 
body other than the cabinet carries out its functions;

(e) make a report or recommendation to the Council or the cabinet on matters which 
affect the city or the inhabitants of the city;

(f) take no action.

13.3 The Committee will then report back to the Councillor who raised the local government 
matter about the decision and the reasons for the decision.

13.4 Excluded matters

The following matters cannot be considered by an Overview and Scrutiny Committee:

 any matter relating to a planning decision;

 any matter relating to a licensing decision;

 any matter relating to an individual or body if s/he/they have, by law, a right to a review 
or right of appeal ;

 any matter which is vexatious, discriminatory or not reasonable to be included in the 
agenda for, or to be discussed at, a Committee or board meeting .

 The Monitoring Officer in consultation with the Scrutiny Officer and Chair (or Vice-
Chair in the chair’s absence) of the relevant Committee will determine whether a 
matter is an excluded matter.

14. SPEAKING ON AGENDA ITEMS

Any member of the public and any Councillor who is not a member of the Committee can 
speak on an agenda item if the Chair agrees. The Chair will decide how long they can 
speak for (unless the meeting is for call-in).

15. POLICY REVIEW AND DEVELOPMENT

15.1 The overview and scrutiny Committees’ role in developing the policy framework and 
budget is set out in paragraph 1.

15.2 In areas that are not covered by the policy framework and budget, the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committees can suggest policies for the cabinet or a cabinet member to develop.

15.3 The Overview and Scrutiny Committees can hold inquiries and consider future policy. This 
may involve appointing advisors, inviting witnesses, making site visits, holding public 
meetings, commissioning research or doing anything else which is necessary.

16. SELECT COMMITTEE REVIEWS



Appendix 1
OFFICIAL
MAY 2018

Overview and Scrutiny Committees may appoint time limited Select Committee Reviews 
to undertake pieces of scrutiny work as required and will be time specific. 

17. REQUESTS FOR REVIEWS FROM FULL COUNCIL

The Overview and Scrutiny Committees must review anything full Council asks them to 
review as soon as they can make space in their programme of work.

18. REQUESTS FOR REVIEWS FROM THE CABINET

The Overview and Scrutiny Committees can (but do not have to) review items the Cabinet 
or a Cabinet Member asks them to review.

19. REPORTS ON OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY REVIEWS

19.1 SELECT COMMITTEES

The Overview and Scrutiny Committees may appoint Select Committees to undertake 
pieces of scrutiny work as required and will be time specific. The Chair of and members of 
Select Committee can be any member not excluded from scrutiny. Select Committees will 
be subject to rules of proportionality.

19.2. Committee/Select Committee Review report

At the end of each policy review, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee / Select 
Committee Review will send the report to the Cabinet or a Cabinet Member (if it is about 
executive responsibilities) or to Council (if it is about Council responsibilities) or to 
another organisation, as appropriate.

19.3. Minority report

For each policy review, there can be a minority report giving any dissenting views. The 
Cabinet, Cabinet Member or Full Council will consider the minority report at the same 
time as the Committee/ review report.

19.4. Which report is the Committee report and which is the minority one?

Each Overview and Scrutiny Committee / Select Committee Review member can vote for 
one report but no more than one. The report with the most votes will be the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee / Select Committee Review report.

19.5 Timing

If an Overview and Scrutiny Committee decides to send a report to the Cabinet, a cabinet 
member or Council:

 the Cabinet must, where practicable, consider it at its next ordinary meeting if it is 
about executive responsibilities;

 Council must, where practicable, consider it at its next ordinary meeting if it is about 
Council responsibilities.



Appendix 1
OFFICIAL
MAY 2018

20. ARRANGEMENTS FOR CABINET TO COMMENT ON REPORTS TO FULL 
COUNCIL

When the Overview and Scrutiny Committee sends a report to full Council, the 
Monitoring Officer will send a copy to the Cabinet/Cabinet Member. Council must 
consider the Cabinet or cabinet member’s comments on anything that affects the policy 
framework and budget.

21. OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MEMBERS’ RIGHTS TO SEE DOCUMENTS

Overview and Scrutiny members’ rights to see documents are set out in the Access to 
Information Rules (see Part F).

22. DUTY OF CABINET MEMBERS AND OFFICERS TO ATTEND OVERVIEW 
AND SCRUTINY MEETINGS

22.1 Duty to attend

Overview and scrutiny meetings can require members of the Cabinet and senior officers to 
attend and answer questions about:

 their performance

 decisions they were involved in

 the extent to which they have followed the policy framework and budget

22.2 Procedure for attending

The Lead Scrutiny Officer will inform the Councillor or officer that they are required to 
attend, what it is about and whether they need to produce a report or provide papers.

22.3 Timing

The Councillor or officer must be given reasonable time to compile information.

23 WHIPPING

Political groups should not pressure their members over how they speak or vote at 
Overview and Scrutiny meetings.

24 ORDER OF BUSINESS AT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEES



Appendix 1
OFFICIAL
MAY 2018

The overview and scrutiny committee will consider:

 declarations of interest

 minutes

 anything that has been called in

 any Cabinet/Cabinet member’s responses to the committee’s reports

 anything else on the agenda

This procedure can be suspended if at least half of all the voting members are present and 
there is a simple majority in favour. It can only be suspended until the end of a meeting.

25 WITNESSES AT OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY MEETINGS

25.1 Witnesses should be treated with politeness and respect.

25.2 Witnesses will only be required to attend Scrutiny meetings where the law requires their 
attendance.

26 ITEMS AFFECTING MORE THAN ONE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE

If an item affects more than one Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the Chairs and Vice 
Chairs of the Committees will consider the creation of a Joint Select Committee to review 
it.

22 MINUTES

At the first meeting when the minutes are available, the chair will move that the minutes 
are correct and sign them. The committees will not discuss anything arising from the 
minutes.

23 GAPS IN THESE PROCEDURES

If there is a gap in these procedures, the Chair will decide what to do.



1 

 

PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 
 

  

Subject: Financial Outturn 2017/18 - including Capital Programme (Subject 

to External Audit) 

  

Committee:    Cabinet 

 
Date:    5 June 2018 

 

Cabinet Member: Councillor Lowry 

 

CMT Member: Andrew Hardingham, Interim Strategic Director for 

Transformation and Change 

 

Authors: Paul Looby, Head of Financial Planning and Reporting 

 Hannah West, Business Partner (Finance) 

Contact details:   Tel:  01752 307271 

    Email: paul.looby@plymouth.gov.uk 

    Tel:  01752 305171 

    Email: hannah.west@plymouth.gov.uk 

 

Ref: 

 

Key Decision: No 

 

Part: I 

 

Purpose of the Report: 

 

This report is the outturn report for 2017/18 and details the financial position of the Council as at the 

end of March 2018. 

 

The Council’s gross revenue budget for 2017/18 was £514.145m which after allowing for income and 

grant was £183.883m. The financial outturn position before any adjustments is an overspend of 

£2.411m against the budget set in February 2017.  Assuming the transfers to and from reserves and 

making use of capital receipts as proposed in the report are approved, a breakeven position will be 

declared i.e. an outturn of £186.294m. 

 

As is normal practice, this report proposes a number of adjustments to the financial accounts following 

the financial review always undertaken by the Section 151 Officer at the end of the year. Decisions 
made as part of this report will feed into the Council’s annual Statement of Accounts which is subject 

to external audit.  The external audit is expected to commence in June 2018 with the final accounts 

approved and signed off by our external auditors at the end of July 2018.  

 

As at 31 March 2018 the Working Balance stands at £9.167m and the final Capital outturn position is 

£98.963m.  The Working Balance represents 5% of the net revenue budget which remains at the 5% 

recommended minimum as set out in the budget approved by Council. 

 

 

 

mailto:paul.looby@plymouth.gov.uk
mailto:hannah.west@plymouth.gov.uk


2 

 

The Corporate Plan 2016/17-2018/19 

 

This outturn report is fundamentally linked to delivering the priorities within the Council’s 

Corporate Plan and sets out how the Council has allocated its limited resources to key priorities 

to maximise the benefits to the residents of Plymouth.  

 

Implications for Medium Term Financial Strategy and Resource Implications 

 

The overall outturn position is break even against our gross budget of £514.145m which is testament 

to the robust financial management and discipline across all areas of the Council.  

 

Given the size of the financial challenge faced for 2017/18, with a total savings target of £18.290m, 

balancing the budget, albeit using one off additional funds, is a major achievement for the Council.  This 

was an essential objective due to the continuing reduction in funding from central government and an 
even more financially challenging 2018/19.  Of the £18.290m savings target, over £10.000m was 

delivered through Transformation. 

 

A range of financing options are available in order to balance the budget and ensure working balances 

are maintained at 5% of the net revenue budget.  By using £1.085m of capital receipts and £1.326m 

derived from section 106 agreements the Council has protected its General Fund Balance. 

 

The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) will now be updated to take account of the outturn 

position as detailed in this report. 

 

 

Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and 

Risk Management 

 

In considering the budget variations for the year, Directors will identify any potential risks to delivering 

the budget in future years and risk assess the delivery of approved budget savings in 2017/18. These 

will be monitored as part of the corporate reporting process. 

 
All actions taken as part of the Corporate Adjustments have been considered for their impact on: 

council priorities, legal obligations, customers and other services and partners. 

 

Equality and Diversity 
 

We have given due-regard to our Public Sector Equality Duty for all relevant managers. 

 

Recommendations and Reasons for Recommended Action 
 

1. Note the provisional outturn position as at 31 March 2018  

 

2. Note the use of capital receipts - £1.085m - to write down Minimum Revenue Provision 

(MRP). 

 

3. Note the use of £1.326m section 106 agreements to ensure a balanced budget position is 

achieved in 2017/18.    

 

4. Note the Capital Report including the Capital Financing Requirement of £98.963m. 

 

 



3 

 

Alternative Options Considered and Rejected 
 

None considered as it is a statutory requirement to report on the use of the Council’s budget 

funds. 

 

 

Published Work / Information 

 

 The Local Government Act 2003 

 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) Regulations 2003 

 The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 

2015 

 Capital Financing Regulations (2012) 

 2017/2018 Annual report 

 
 

Sign off 

Fin djn1819.1
1 

Leg lt/30502/2
105cp 

Mon 

Off 

 HR  Assets  IT  Strat 

Proc 

 

Originating CMT Member: Andrew Hardingham 

Have the Cabinet Members agreed the contents of the report?  Yes 

 
  

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/26/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2003/3146/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/341/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/341/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2012/265/made
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/aboutcouncil/annualreport


4 

 

 

Plymouth City Council 

 

Finance Monitoring – 2017/18 

 

Quarter 4 Outturn at 31 March 2018 
 
1. Introduction 

 

1.1 This report reviews the Council’s financial performance for the year ended 31 March 2018.  

 

1.2 The provisional outturn position (subject to external audit review) for 2017/18 is showing a 

breakeven position after the application of reserves, capital receipts and section 106 

agreements.  This outturn position needs to be seen in context of the financial challenges the 

Council faced during the year. 

 

1.3 Despite significant pressures within Social Care due to increasing demands arising from 

demographic growth and complex client needs a small underspend has been declared within 

People Directorate which will compare favourably with other Unitary and Upper Tier 

authorities.  However, caution needs to be exercised when making comparisons as budgets for 

2017/18 were developed from widely differing starting points.  

 

1.4 Within the Place Directorate identified pressures within Waste Services and Fleet and Garage 

have been managed by identifying savings and maximising income across Directorate.  Where 

pressures have been identified earlier in the year decisions were made to address some of 

these challenges to assist the Council and reaching this position. 

 

1.5 Further details of the main variations are contained within section A of this report.  
 

1.6 It is appropriate, given the financial challenges facing the Council in the next financial year and 

the medium term, that as part of reporting the final position for 2017/18 further consideration 

is now given to future levels of the Working Balance and reserves.  As is normal practice at this 

time of year, the Chief Finance Officer, the Interim Strategic Director for Transformation & 

Change is recommending adjustments to provisions and reserves within the report. Full details 

of the Council’s reserves and provisions will be set out within the Statement of Accounts.  

 

1.7 The outturn figures will now feed into the Council’s formal Statement of Accounts, which will 

include the Balance Sheet position.  The Accounts and Audit Regulations 2011 require the 

Interim Strategic Director for Transformation & Change, as the Council’s Section 151 Officer, 

to formally approve the Accounts by 31 May 2018, a month earlier than last year.  The External 

Auditor is required to audit the accounts by 31 July 2018 – the statutory deadline for their 

publication; the Audit Committee will be formally asked to approve the final accounts for the 

year following completion of the audit. 

 

1.8 This report contains the following sections and appendices:- 

 

 Section A   Revenue Finance Outturn 2017/18 

 Section B   Capital Programme Outturn 2017/18 

 Appendix A  Revenue Outturn Variances 2017/18 

 

 



5 

 

1.9 Full details of how we have allocated our financial resources to our priorities are set out in our 

2017/2018 Annual report. The Annual Report summaries how we are delivering the priorities 

for Plymouth. 

 

1.10 It sets out what we aim to achieve going forward and details what we achieved during 2017/18 

despite the financial challenges we are facing including the creation of more jobs and homes for 

the city and our ambitious capital investment. 

  

https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/aboutcouncil/annualreport


6 

 

SECTION A: REVENUE FINANCE OUTTURN 
 

2. Revenue Finance Outturn 2017/18 

 

2.1 Council approved a gross revenue budget of £514.145m with a net revenue budget of 

£183.883m for 2017/18 at its meeting on 27 February 2017.  Table 1 below provides a 

summary of the Council’s overall revenue expenditure and compares the provisional outturn 

(subject to Audit) with the latest approved budget. 
 

2.2 The finance outturn position, before any adjustments, shows an overspend of £2.411m which is 

a 1.31% variance.  The outturn position needs to be considered in the context of a challenging 

financial climate and the continuation of the Government’s austerity programme with respect 

to public finances.  In 2017/18 the Council has managed a £18.290m savings programme in 

addition to increasing service demands and customer expectations.  In addition increased 

pension costs have arisen due to reducing workforce numbers and pressures have been 

experienced within housing benefit subsidy and recovery of overpayments.  

 

Table 1 End of Year Revenue Outturn by Directorate.   

 

*Transformation and Change Directorate includes the Councils Treasury Management 

activities which are subject to a separate outturn report considered by Audit Committee. 

 

2.3 The following proposals have been actioned to reach a breakeven position for the Council.  

 

- use of capital receipts - £1.085m; to reduce the MRP budget. 

- use of funds from section 106 agreements - £1.326m. 

 

2.4 Full details of outturn position by Directorate are shown in Appendix 1.  Further details for 

other adjustments and reserve movements are set out in section 5 of the report. 

 

2.5 Across the Council, management actions to reduce the potential of an overspend being 

incurred over the last months of the financial year included a review of all discretionary spend 

and delayed expenditure wherever possible. 

 
2.6 Given the timetable to produce the accounts, both PCC and N.E.W. Devon CCG have agreed 

to formalise the financial position as shown in Table 2 for the Plymouth Integrated Fund. 

 

Directorate 
2017/18 

Gross 
Expenditure 

2017/18 

Gross 

Income 

2017/18 

Council 

Approved 

Net 

Budget 

2017/18 

Budget 
Virements 

2017/18 

Latest  

Budget 

2017/18 

Outturn 

Year End 

Over / 

(Under) 

Spend 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Executive Office 3.852 (0.224) 3.628 (0.025) 3.603 3.603 0.000 

Corporate Items 8.153 (7.081) 1.072 (3.352) (2.280) 0.371 2.651 

Transformation and Change 

Directorate* 
154.263 (121.576) 32.687 3.683 36.370 36.215 (0.155) 

People Directorate 253.558 (131.010) 122.548 (0.049) 122.499 122.449 (0.050) 

Office for the Director of 

Public Health 
19.731 (19.531) 0.200 (0.015) 0.185 0.176 (0.009) 

Place Directorate 74.588 (50.839) 23.749 (0.242) 23.507 23.481 (0.026) 

TOTAL 514.145 (330.262) 183.883 0.000 183.883 186.294 2.411 



7 

 

 

 

Table 2 Plymouth Integrated Fund  

 

Plymouth Integrated Fund 

Section 75 

indicative 

position 

2017/18 

Latest 

Budget 

Forecast 

Outturn 

Forecast Year End Over 

/ (Under) Spend 

 
£m £m £m £m 

N.E.W. Devon CCG – 

Plymouth locality 
331.000 337.479 337.283 (0.196) 

Plymouth City Council 131.000 253.298 253.461 0.163 

TOTAL 462.000 590.777 590.744 (0.033) 

 

*This represents the net People Directorate budget plus the gross Public Health Commissioning 

budget (which is financed by a ring fenced Department of Health Grant). 

 

3. Analysis of the Final Outturn Position by Directorate 

 
Executive Office 

 

3.1 This service area has recorded a balanced position for the year arising mainly as a consequence 

of controlling costs and receiving additional income from the Torbay DfE funding.. 

 

Corporate Items 

 

3.2 Corporate items is showing an overspend position for the year of £2.651m.  The key variations 

are; 

 

3.3 Pension pressure of just over £0.300m, and non-delivery of previous savings targets totalling 

£1.800m, which includes; Staff Travel, Customer Service Transformation, Procurement, 

Commercialisation and Asset Management.  Due to other underspends this brings the pressure 

down by £0.800m. 

 

3.4 The reduction in the Education Services Grant (ESG) totalling £1.325m which has also resulted 

in an associated overspend in statutory services previously funded from this grant, is also 

shown here. This follows a decision for this pressure to be held corporately, instead of in the 

People Directorate.  The ESG had been used to fund legacy pension costs inherited when 

Plymouth became a Unitary Authority in 1998. 

 

3.5 By making use of capital receipts, and section 106 agreements these pressures will be addressed 

enabling a balanced budget to be achieved.  

 

Transformation and Change 

 

3.6 Transformation and Change Directorate is showing a small underspend of £0.155m at year end.  

Majority of this is within Finance, who delivered a £0.892m underspend, due mainly to the 

application of capital receipts to the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP) as part of the Council’s 

Treasury Management activities. 

 



8 

 

3.7 Human Resources (HR) & Organisational Development (OD) also delivered an underspend of 

£0.304m following vacancy savings being captured.   Legal Services also generated a small 

underspend of £0.004m following efforts to generate additional income. 

 

3.8 Transformation has ended 2017/18 with a pressure of £0.166m.  This needs to be viewed with 

the backdrop of the service area picking up a significant in-year efficiency target with Smart 

Working and the decision to decentralise this service to enable bigger savings to be captured 

corporately. 

 

3.9 Customer Services is also showing a pressure of over £0.600m as forecasted due to Housing 

Benefit subsidy shortfall and the requirement to further top up the bad debt provision.   This 

was identified in the first half of the year and efforts made to reduce this pressure from 

growing.  This will continue to be a pressure to the Council as the rollout of Universal Credit 

will make it increasingly more difficult for the Council to recover overpayments. 

 

3.10 There is also a risk that pressure on welfare provisions will increase as Universal Credit 

continues to be applied. 

 

3.11 The Departmental budget also shows a pressure of £0.245m as it holds Directorate wide legacy 

pressures from previous years. 

 

3.12 Delt was again set the challenge of delivering efficiencies of £0.400m which was built into the 

base budget and achieved in full as part of the outturn position. Despite this the ICT budget 

shows a small pressure of £0.018m due to necessary stock write off.  

 

People Directorate  

 

3.13 The Children Young People and Families (CYPF) Service are reporting an adverse outturn 
position of £0.157m. 

 

3.14 The overall CYPF overspend can be attributed to the increased cost and volume of looked 

after children’s placements.  Despite these increased costs, the department has made significant 

one off savings in year with good progress through the management-challenge & support 

sessions and budget containment meetings. 

 

3.15 Early in-year monitoring identified the increasing costs of placements, with increases effective 

during 2017/18 showing 16.59% uplifts. The department has been working throughout the year 

to contain and cover pressures from other savings; however as we reached the third quarter a 

budget virement was agreed of £1.000m, effectively increasing the children’s services budget for 

the current year, by making use of corporate funding solutions. This cost pressure has been 

identified going forward into future years and as such the MTFS additional funding has been 

increased from the original £2.000m to £3.200m. 

 

3.16 The national and local context for children’s placements is extremely challenging, with 

increasing difficulties in securing appropriate, good quality placements.  High demand and 

limited supply of placements, a tightening of Ofsted requirements, as well as initiatives such as 

the introduction of the National Living Wage, have all led to an increase in the unit costs of 

placements.  A region wide lack of placements has meant that some children have been placed 

in residential rather than the preferred fostering placements at a much higher cost. 

 

3.17 The detail of this final outturn position for CYPF includes: 

 

3.18 Ongoing work has been undertaken to ensure a systematic review of all young people in 

supported living and new arrangements for plans for them are in place. This will ensure 



9 

 

appropriate plans are in place for young people improving timeliness and reducing cost 

pressure.  Extensive work is also underway to review all placements in order to reduce the 

pressure on cost and volume where appropriate going forward. 

 

3.19 Commissioners continue to work with colleagues in the peninsula to increase the sufficiency 

and quality of placements available. Since 2012 when there were 2 residential placements 

available in the city we now have 14 placements, and we expect this to continue to increase 

with two solo homes due to be registered in spring 2018. 

 

3.20 Activity includes: 

 

 Peninsula Fostering tender – new contracts begin 1st April 2018. The contracts require a 

breakdown and justification of any additional fees and all providers had to submit a breakdown 

of their core placement fees as part of the tender, to enable greater transparency of price. The 

contract also includes clear expectations around Staying Put arrangements.  From the age of 

eighteen young people are no longer legally ‘in care’ or ‘looked after’ and therefore fostering 

arrangements and legislation relating to children placed with foster carers no longer applies. In 

circumstances where a young person remains with their former foster carer/s after their 

eighteenth birthday, the arrangement should therefore be deemed a “Staying Put” arrangement. 

Once the child reaches the age of eighteen and legal adulthood, the local authority is no longer 

making a placement, but facilitating a “Staying Put” arrangement for the young person. 

  

 Residential block contract – the residential block contract has been implemented from 1st 

March 2018. The tender secured 12 beds initially in or within 20 miles of Plymouth, with the 

option to develop new provision as needed during the lifetime of the contract. Since 1st March 

an additional two bedded home in Plymouth has been added to the contract; this provision is 

already being used by Plymouth young people. The prices on the contract are between 5% and 

7% lower than market rates. A multi-agency group (including Finance representation) is in place 
to ensure the effective running of the contract and to minimise any voids. 

 

 Peninsula – Alternative provision for high risk children.  The Peninsula local authorities are 

jointly funding a scoping exercise in relation to meeting the needs of children and young people 

with high risk behaviours, who don’t meet the threshold for Tier 4 or Welfare Secure, but are 

beyond the capability of a traditional children’s home. 

 

 Devon is leading this work on behalf of the Peninsula, and this includes a consideration of 

establishing a new provision, able to offer crisis/emergency care with highly skilled staff able to 

manage significant risk. This work also relates to the Devon-wide STP work stream in relation 

to “Young people whose needs we struggle to meet as a system and who present in crisis”.  

Key dates: Scoping report due spring 2018. 

 

3.21 The Strategic Commissioning service is reporting a year end favourable position of £0.154m - a 

reduction of £0.154m from the predicted breakeven balanced budget at month 11.  Throughout 

the year, there has been a steady increase in clients, especially around Domiciliary Care and 

Supported Living, which has had the effect of significant cost increases on those two areas.  

Additional client contributions through the year balanced out those costs and further savings 

on the salary lines helped to deliver the year end underspend reported. 

 

3.22 As part of this year end position, Strategic Commissioning has achieved its target of delivering 

over £5.2m of savings in the current year.  Although some of the savings are one-off, plans are 

in place for 2018/19 to replace with sustainable savings. 

 

3.23 People Management & Support budget achieved a minor underspend of £0.004m 

 



10 

 

3.24 Education, Participation and Skills are also reporting a minor underspend of £0.034m due to a 

small variation within the home to school transport budget.  This needs to be seen with the 

understanding that the shortfall in ESG of £1.325m was agreed to be dealt with corporately. 

 

3.25 As part of the MTFS for 2017/18, Community Connections made savings of £0.500m to 

contribute to the £7.117m Directorate target, resulting in a minor underspend of £0.014m. 

 

3.26 Average nightly Bed and Breakfast (B&B) placements for 2017/18 were 53.7 compared to 

budget for 28.  The B&B cost pressure was £0.675m for increased demand during year, this 

included impact of higher nightly costs, introduction of Universal Credit and increasing 

accommodation needs for families.  This pressure was contained by a number of one off actions 

including use of grant monies and targeted management action.  Action is ongoing to limit the 

ongoing cost pressure of homelessness through lower placements and prevention work.   

 

Office of the Director of Public Health (ODPH) 

 

3.27 The Public Health Directorate has achieved an underspend of £0.009m at year end, despite a 

cut of £0.398m to the Public Health grant funding.  The revenue funded services - Public 

Protection and Civil Protection is where the underspend was achieved whilst also contributing 

£0.070m to the People directorate. 

 

Place Directorate 

 

3.28 Strategic Planning and Infrastructure (SP&I) underspent by £0.327m. Capitalisation of salaries 

and spend savings have been the main contributors. This has been possible despite major 

planning application and pre-application income activities remaining weak, however, building 

control fees have performed well. The projected concessionary fares savings and delayed 

recruitment has also contributed to off-setting the planning application fee downturn. The 
remaining public examination costs for the Plymouth and South West Devon Local Plan will 

now be incurred in 2018/19 although the total costs still remain unknown.  

 

3.29 Departmental Management was part of the £0.405m efficiency savings target achieved 

elsewhere in Directorate. 

 

3.30 Income generation from Asset Investment Fund acquisitions has enabled a number of expected 

spend pressures within Economic Development to be met. This included enabling the removal 

of the Corporate Landlord budget savings target for Museums “mothballing”, and containing an 

overall MTV net cost.  

 

3.31 The New Homes Bonus target has already been achieved for 2017/18. 

 

3.32 Street Scene & Waste outturn is £0.007m underspend.  The street scene and waste service has 

delivered significant savings within year via an extensive street cleansing and waste 

modernisation programme.  Additional resources totalling £0.500m were added during the 

year. 

 

3.33 Fleet and Garage outturn came in as a £0.775m adverse. This has been reported throughout 

the year and is due to undeliverable savings targets, including legacy savings of £0.607m. The 

budget has been rebased for 2018/19 and these legacy targets have been removed. 

 

3.34 Highways and Car Parking Outturn shows a favourable variation of £0.336m, of this £0.050m is 

due to capitalisation of the SSIMS project costs and £0.195m of additional income from the Car 

Parking trading account. £0.090m was due to the realignment of Amey to South West 

Highways (SWH).   



11 

 

 

3.35 Street Services Overheads shows a pressure of £0.163m.  

 

4. Other Financial Performance 

 

4.1 In addition to the financial outturn reports within this report there were a range of other 

significant performance achievements which have contributed to the year-end position.  In-year 

collection targets are set for our Council Tax, Business Rates, Commercial Rent, and Sundry 

Debt Income including our Trade Waste Income. The 2017/18 revenue budget was based on 

the achievement of the required targets. 

 

4.2 We continue to increase our collection rates in core income streams and explore alternative 

ways of making further improvements.  For example, we created a new team within existing 

resources to focus on recovering debt due to the Council with a specific focus on reducing 

housing benefit over payments. 

 

4.3 Some Key Indicators are: 

 

 The Miscellaneous Debt Management Team raised invoices to the total value of £110.000m 

in 2017/18 compared with £103.000m in 2016/17, collecting 96.87% of this debt within 30 

days (96.9% in 2016/17) against a target of 95%.  

 

 96.9% of Council Tax collected against a target of 98.5% (16/17 = 96.9%). 

 

 99.3% of NNDR collected against a target of 98.0% (16/17 = 99.1%). 

 

 Average borrowing rate of 2.38% was achieved against target of 3.54% (16/17 = 2.61%). 

 
 Average investment return of 1.34% was achieved against target of 1.3% (16/17 = 1.7%). 

 

 98.4% of all supplier invoices were paid within 30 days against a target of 99%. 

 

 VAT partial exemption at 3.41% against a target of 5% (16/17 = 4.6%). 

 

 53.4% of the Council’s spend was incurred businesses within the “PL” post code against 

target of 55% (16/17 = 56%). 

 

Transformation – Flexible Use of Capital Receipts 

 

4.4 As part of the Spending Review in 2015, the Government announced it would introduce 

flexibility for local authorities to use capital receipts to fund the revenue costs of service 

reforms and transformation.  This included set up or implementation costs that generated 

future ongoing savings through services transformation, reducing costs and improving the 

quality of service delivery. 

 

4.5 During 2017/18 the Transformation Portfolio delivered in excess of £10.000m worth of 

reoccurring savings, via three Programme strands that covered all aspects of the Council.  The 

cost incurred to enable delivery totalled just under £3.000m which was funded from capital 

receipts as part of the Flexible Use of Capital Receipts.  

 

 

 

 



12 

 

4.6 The table below shows the net position for each programme. 

 

Table 3 Transformation Programmes  

 

Programme 
Reoccurring 

Savings 
Resource Costs Net Savings 

 
£m £m £m 

GAME 3.061 0.915 2.146 

Transformation of the Corporate Centre 3.468 0.824 2.644 

Integrated Health and Wellbeing 3.945 0.992 2.953 

TOTAL 10.474 2.731 7.743 

 

4.7 GAME Programme: This programme focused predominantly on modernisation of services 

including collection and disposal of waste. It paid particular attention to implementing 

Alternative Weekly Collections, rerouting the vehicles and investing in technology to enable 

quicker response times and more accurate charging.  It also covered a strategic asset review 

that enabled Estate Rationalisation, and partnership working on One Public Estate (OPE).  This 

delivered reoccurring savings of £3.061m. 

 

4.8 Resource costs equated to £0.915m, this included the use of a Programme Manager, four 

project managers, four project support officers, an architectural technologist, a cost manager, 

two business change advisors and four business analysts.  

 
4.9 Transformation of the Corporate Centre: This programme concentrated on service reviews to 

deliver cross cutting savings.  Areas that underwent a review included Registration services, 

Library service, Finance Department and Legal Services.  This enabled development of 

technology and digital focused solutions to improve efficiency and create shared services 

wherever possible.  This delivered reoccurring savings of £3.468m. 

 

4.10 Resource costs equated to £0.824m, this included the use of a Programme Manager, Business 

Transition manager, five project managers, three project support officers, two business analysts, 

and architectural technologist support. 

 

4.11 Integrated Health and Wellbeing: This programme centred around working in partnership with 

the Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), to improve services available to children and young 

people.  Focus was on reviewing contracts, seeking economies of scale and ensuring value for 

money.  This delivered reoccurring savings of £3.945m. 

 

4.12 Resource costs equated to £0.992m, this included the use of a Programme Manager, a 

Communications Lead, five project managers, two project support officers, a business change 

advisor, four business analysts and a business architect. 

 

5. 2017/18 Financial Review 

 

5.1 As part of consideration of the outturn position, and before officially closing the accounts, it is 

necessary to review the Council’s overall financial position, looking not only at the general fund 

revenue outturn position for the year, but reviewing the adequacy of reserves and provisions in 

the light of financial liabilities identified over the short to medium term.  Decisions made feed 

into the Council’s statutory Statement of Accounts which is subject to external audit. 



13 

 

 

5.2 As an integral part of the financial review the Interim Joint Strategic Director for 

Transformation & Change - Finance and Corporate Management Team (CMT) are 

recommending the following corporate adjustments. 

 

a. Release of Capital Receipts 

 

5.3 Local authorities have an option that part or all of the MRP payment could be funded from 

capital receipts.  This is reflected in the MRP strategy and capital receipts to the value of 

£1.085m have been applied to ensure a balanced budget position is achieved in 2017/18. 

 

5.4 Full details of the Council’s Reserves and Provisions will be set out within the Statement of 

Accounts for 2017/18. 

 

b. Use of Section 106 Agreements 

 

5.5 As reported to Cabinet in quarter 3 budget monitoring report, due to the significant budget 

pressures and demands placed upon services, an innovative approach to generate new 

resources and support the revenue budget has been identified through the use of section 106 

agreements.  To ensure a balanced budget is achieved in 2017/18 £1.326m of section 106 

agreements has been applied to offset the outturn overspend. 

 

Working Balance 

 

5.6 The Working Balance as at 31 March 2018 is £9.167m.  This represents 5% of the net revenue 

budget which remains at the 5% recommended minimum approved within the MTFS.  

 

 Table 4 Working Balance 

 

Schools Balances 

 

5.7 At the end of the year there was a total of £3.747m unspent monies against schools’ 

delegated budgets and other reserves. The main reasons why schools hold balances are: 

 

 Anticipation of future budget pressures usually arising from pupil number variations. 

 

 To provide for the balance of Government grants paid during the financial year (April–March) 

which cover expenditure occurring across the academic year (September – August). 

 

5.8 There are two nurseries and three maintained schools with deficit balances included in this 

overall figure above, with a combined deficit of £0.514m. There are currently no implications to 

Plymouth City Council for this deficit as these are offset by the schools with a surplus balance.   

 

 March 2017 MTFS adjustment March 2018 

 £m £m £m 

Working Balance 9.351 (0.184) 9.167 



14 

 

 
 

  

Recommendations 

 

That Cabinet:- 

 

1. Note the provisional outturn position as at 31 March 2018. 

 

2. Note the use of capital receipts - £1.085m - to write down MRP to ensure a balanced 

budget position is achieved in 2017/18. 

 

3.  Note the use of section 106 monies - £1.326m to ensure a balanced budget is achieved in 

2017/18. 



15 

 

SECTION B: CAPITAL PROGRAMME OUTTURN 2017/18 
 

6. Capital Programme outturn 2017/18 

 

6.1 The capital programme outturn position for 2017/18 is £98.963m.  This is shown by 

Directorate in Table 5 below.  This is within the approved Capital Budget of £674.640m 

reported to Full Council in February 2018.   

 
Table 5 Capital Outturn 2017/18 

 

Directorate 

Latest 

Forecast 

December 

2017 

Re-

profiling 

Approvals 

post 

December 

Variations 

& 

virements 

2017/18 

Outturn 
Variance  % 

 
£m £m £m £m £m £m  

Place  92.560 (11.272) 2.796 (0.224) 83.860 (8.700) 90.6 

People  9.601 (1.153) 1.013 (0.744) 8.717 (0.884) 90.8 

Transformation  

& Change  
4.095 (0.846) 0.335 0.071 3.655 (0.440) 89.3 

Office for the 

Director of Public 

Health 

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.0 

CAPITAL 

PROGRAMME 
106.256 (13.271) 4.144 (0.897) 96.232 (10.024) 90.6 

Efficiency Strategy 0.000 0.000 2.731 0.000 2.731 2.731  

TOTAL 

CAPITAL 

PROGRAMME 

106.256 (13.271) 6.875 (0.897) 98.963 (7.293)  

 

6.2 The 2017/18 programme outturn of £98.963m has enabled investment in some notable 

schemes, including: 

 

 £36.137m Asset Investment acquisitions including:  

 £3.074m Coburg House 

 £7.331m Next 

 £20.303m Royal Mail Site  

 

 £2.539 Strategic Property Acquisitions for regeneration and housing development including: 

 £1.678m Colin Campbell Court 

 £0.585m Bath Street 

 

 £11.563m Derriford Transport Scheme 

 
 £7.989m for the redevelopment of the City Museum and Library into the ‘The Box’ 

 

 £5.875m Highway maintenance and essential engineering 

 

 £3.283m of Basic Need works in Plymouth schools to allow for increasing capacity trajectories  

 

 £0.339m improving the condition of Plymouth schools 

 



16 

 

 £2.592m for Disabled Facilities Grant works 

 

 £1.896m maintaining corporate and heritage assets 

 

 £1.008m ICT provision, upgrading and creating new capabilities for ICT infrastructure 

 

6.3 The year-end position highlights £13.271m of re-profiling of schemes into 2018/19.  This is 

spend which was scheduled to be delivered in 2017/18, but is now forecast to be delivered in 

2018/19.  Explanations for the most significant project re-profiling are given below: 

 

 (£0.761m) Oceansgate 

Work has been continuing to deliver the South Yard Oceansgate site. A delay in awarding the 

Balfour Beatty contract for infrastructure works and delays in completing legal agreements with 

local landowners has resulted in the 2017/18 anticipated works being delivered in 2018/19. 

 

 (£1.524m) Asset Investment Fund  

On-going negotiations over the structure and terms of the acquisitions, and also additional 

unforeseen circumstances such as adverse weather conditions resulting in construction delays 

for the Langage and Next sites has meant that these projects have required slight reprofiling. 

 

 (£0.616) The Box 

At the time of the latest capital programme approval (December 2017) it was anticipated that 

2017/18 spend would be £8.605m.  However, there was a contractual delay that caused a delay 

to the refurbishment of the museum. This was caused by the Mechanical and Electrical layout 

being revised by Events Communication to cater for Exhibition.  This has resulted in the need 

to re-profile £0.641m worth of spend from 2017/18 into 2018/19. 

 

Capital Financing 2017/18 
 

6.4 The table below shows the final financing of the 2017/18 programme. 

 

Table 6 Financing of 2017/18 Capital Programme 

 

Method of financing 

Un 

ring- fenced 

£m 

Ring –

fenced 

£m 

 

Total 

£m 

- Capital receipts (0.003) 2.099 2.096 

- Grants (e.g. gov’t, HLF, LEP, Environment Agency) 6.325 22.704 29.029 

- Internal PCC Balance Sheet Funds 0.100 0.000 0.100 

- Contributions, S106 & CIL  0.031 0.671 0.702 

- Direct Revenue Funding from service areas 0.000 0.295 0.295 

- Borrowing:    

- Corporately funded 17.351 0.000 17.351 

- Service revenue budget funded 0.000 41.576 41.576 

- External Borrowing 0.000 5.083 5.083 

CAPITAL FINANCING 2017/18 23.804 72.428 96.232 

-     Flexible Use of Capital Receipts 0.000 2.731 2.731 

TOTAL CAPITAL FINANCING 2017/18 23.804 75.159 98.963 

 



17 

 

6.5 Service Borrowing: Service departments will make a revenue contribution for their 

borrowing based on the amount of the loan, the interest rate and the life of the individual 

assets.  The interest cost is calculated using interest rates provided by the Treasury 

Management Team and is based on the term of the borrowing.  The interest rates are fixed for 

the full term of the borrowing so that the service knows the full cost of borrowing. 

 

6.6 The service would cover the cost of borrowing from the benefits gained once the scheme has 

been completed and commissioned.  There should therefore be no additional cost to service 

budgets as the budgets will receive both the benefits derived and cost of debt financing. 

 

6.7 Corporate Borrowing: Corporately funded schemes are charged to the Treasury 

Management budget.  Over recent years the cost of such schemes has been absorbed into that 

cost centre.  However, this is unsustainable going forward.  A provision of £0.400m has been 

included in the 2018/19 revenue budget with further provisions included within the MTFS but 

these will have to be reviewed each year as the projects are completed. 

 

Revised Capital Programme 2018 – 2022 

 

6.8 The table below sets out the revised capital programme for the 2018 – 2022 period: 

 

Table 7 Revised Capital Programme 

 

 

Recommendations 

 

That Cabinet:- 

1. Note the Capital Report including the Capital Financing Requirement of £98.963m 

  

 

  

Directorate 
2018/19 

Forecast 

2019/20 

Forecast 

2020/21 

Forecast 

2021/22 

Forecast 

2022/23 

Forecast 
Total 

Programme 

  £m £m £m £m £m £m 

Place  115.858 52.476 8.484 2.000 2.000 180.818 

People  6.655 0.242 0.177 0.177 0.000 7.251 

Transformation and 

Change  
8.245 1.112 0.984 0.000 0.000 10.341 

Office for the 

Director of Public 

Health 

0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 0.000 

TOTAL 130.758 53.830 9.645 2.177 2.000 198.410 



18 

 

REVENUE OUTTURN VARIANCES MARCH 2018                           APPENDIX A 

DEPARTMENTS 

2017/18 

Gross 

Expenditure 
December 

2017/18 

Gross 

Income 
December 

Latest 
Approved 

Final 

Outturn Outturn Variation 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Chief Executives Office 3,020 (145) 2,875 2,875 0 

Business Support 807 (79) 728 728 0 

Total Executive Office 3.827 (0,224) 3,603 3,603 0,000 

            

Other Corporate Items 8,335 (7,263) (2,280) 371 2,651 

Total Corporate Items 8,335 (7,263) (2,280) 371 2,651 

            

Finance 26,216 (5,544) 20,672 19,780 (892) 

Legal 2,974 (932) 2,042 2,038 (4) 

Customer Services 116,279 (111,630) 4,649 5,265 616 

Human Resources & OD 2,065 (58) 2,007 1,702 (304) 

Departmental Management (263) 0 (263) (18) 245 

Transformation 3,035 (2,789) 245 411 166 

ICT 6,898 (425) 6,473 6,491 18 

Electoral Function 547 (2) 545 545 0 

Total Transformation and Change 157,750 (121,380) 36,370 36,215 (0.155) 

            

Children,Young People,Families 39,477 (3,439) 36,038 36,195 157 

Strategic Comm  Adult Soc Care 105,273 (31,220) 74,053 73,899 (154) 

Education Participation Skills 104,359 (94,747) 9,612 9,578 (35) 

Community Connections 4,185 (1,604) 2,581 2,567 (14) 

Management and Support 214 0 214 209 (5) 

Total People Directorate 253,509 (131,010) 122,499 122,449 (0.050) 

            

Economic Development 14,621 (13,228) 1,393 731 (662) 

Strategic Planning 13,544 (3,539) 10,006 9,679 (327) 

Street Services 45,662 (28,875) 16,787 17,382 595 

Departmental Management 518 (5,196) 469 835 366 

GAME Transformation 0 0 (5,146) (5,146) (0) 

Total Place Directorate 74,346 (50,839) 23,509 23,481 (0.026) 

            

Public Health 16,427 (16,029) 398 398 0 

Operational and Development 238 (55) 184 190 7 

Trading Standards 436 (17) 419 394 (25) 

Environ Health (Food & Safety) 432 (34) 398 377 (20) 

Bereavement Services 1,122 (2,811) (1,689) (1,689) 0 

Licensing 306 (408) (102) (76) 26 

Environmental Protection 580 (165) 415 436 21 

Civil Protection Unit 189 (26) 163 145 (18) 

Total Office of Director of Public 
Health (ODPH) 

19,731 (19,546) 185 176 (0.009) 

            

Total General Fund budget 514,145 (330,261) 183,883 186,294 2,411 

 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

Subject:  Corporate Plan 2016-19 - Quarter 4 2017/18 update 

Committee:   Cabinet   

Date:  5 June 2018    

Cabinet Member:  Councillor Lowry   

CMT Member:   Tracey Lee, Chief Executive  

Author:  Andrew Loton, Senior Performance Advisor 

Contact details: Andrew.loton@plymouth.gov.uk  

Key Decision:   N/A    

Part:   1 

________________________________________________________________ 

Purpose of the report:  

 
1. The performance analysis report highlights performance against the Corporate Plan performance 

framework for quarter four. The report also reflects the four current corporate priorities of 

elections, customer services, street services and CQC Review. Reporting is by exception and 

informed by the strategic risk register. 

 

 

2. The activity report presents updates against each of the priority activities originally identified for 

the Corporate Plan and the four current corporate priorities of elections, customer services, 

street services and CQC Review.    

______________________________________________________________________________ 

The Corporate Plan 2016-19   
 

 

 

 This report outlines progress against the ambitions as set out in the Council’s Corporate Plan  

2016-19. 

 

 

Implications for Medium Term Financial Strategy and Resource Implications:     

Including finance, human, IT and land: 
 

The Medium Term Financial Strategy is a core component of the council's strategic framework and 

has a vital role to play in translating the council's ambition and priorities set out in the Corporate 

Plan 2016-19 and the city’s ambition in the Plymouth Plan, into action.   
 

The current Medium Term Financial Strategy focuses on taking a view out to 2019/20 of the range of 

major issues affecting the resources of Plymouth City Council.  
 

__________________________________________________________________________ 

Other Implications: e.g. Child Poverty, Community Safety, Health and Safety and Risk 

Management: 
 

The Corporate Plan complements the Council’s existing policy framework with respect to the above.  

 

 

 



 

 

Equality and Diversity: 

Where potential equality and diversity implications are identified from the implementation of any new 

activities arising from the Corporate Plan, assessments will be undertaken in line with the Council’s 

policies. 

Recommendations and Reasons for recommended action: 

Cabinet to note and approve the Corporate Plan Quarter four monitoring reports.  

 

Alternative options considered and rejected: 

 

None:- This report forms part of the Council’s agreed performance management framework. 
 

Published work / information: 

 

Background papers: 

Title Part 1 Part II Exemption Paragraph Number 

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 

Corporate Plan 2016-19          

          

 

Sign off:   

Fin  Leg 

 

 Mon 

Off 

 HR   Assets   IT  Strat 

Proc 

 

Originating SMT Member: Giles Perritt 

Has the Cabinet Member(s) agreed the content of the report?  Yes 

 

Jagor
Typewritten Text

Jagor_1
Typewritten Text

Jagor_2
Typewritten Text
MS/
30537

Jagor_3
Typewritten Text

Jagor_4
Typewritten Text

Jagor_5
Typewritten Text
 djn18
19.14

Jagor_6
Typewritten Text



 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES OFFICIAL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES  
Quarter Four – 2017/18



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 2 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

 

CONTENTS 

 

1. INTRODUCTION......................................................................................................................................... 3 

1.1. The Corporate Plan ..................................................................................................................................... 3 

2. SUMMARY.................................................................................................................................................... 4 

3. PIONEERING ............................................................................................................................................... 5 

3.1. Priority Activity Highlights ........................................................................................................................... 5 

3.2. Quality services focused on customers’ needs ............................................................................................ 5 

3.3. Balancing the books ..................................................................................................................................... 6 

3.4. New ways of working ................................................................................................................................... 7 

3.5. Best use of Council Assets ............................................................................................................................ 9 

PIA7 – Deliver the Asset Management Plan and maximise the community value of our assets ........................... 9 

3.6. Working constructively with everyone ........................................................................................................ 9 

4. GROWING .................................................................................................................................................. 11 

4.1. Priority Activity Highlights ......................................................................................................................... 11 

4.2. Quality jobs and valuable skills ................................................................................................................. 11 

4.3. Broad range of homes ................................................................................................................................ 14 

GRA6 – Deliver the Plan for Homes ....................................................................................................................... 14 

4.4. Increased levels of investment ................................................................................................................... 14 

4.5. Meeting future infrastructure needs ......................................................................................................... 15 

4.6. Green and pleasant city ............................................................................................................................. 17 

5. CARING ...................................................................................................................................................... 19 

5.1. Priority Activity Highlights ......................................................................................................................... 19 

5.2. Focus on prevention and early intervention ............................................................................................. 19 

5.3. Keeping people protected ......................................................................................................................... 21 

5.4. Inclusive communities ................................................................................................................................ 23 

5.5. Reduce health inequalities ......................................................................................................................... 23 

6. CONFIDENT .............................................................................................................................................. 24 

6.1. Priority Activity Highlights ......................................................................................................................... 24 

6.2. Council decisions driven by citizen need ................................................................................................... 24 

COA1 – Residents help to inform Council priorities .............................................................................................. 24 

6.3. Plymouth as a destination ......................................................................................................................... 25 

6.4. Improved street scene environment .......................................................................................................... 26 

6.5. Setting the direction for the South West .................................................................................................. 27 

6.6. Motivated, skilled and engaged workforce ............................................................................................... 29 
 

 

 

  



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 3 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

1. INTRODUCTION 
  

1.1. The Corporate Plan   
  

The Corporate Plan 2016-19 sets out our vision to be ‘One team serving our city’. 

  

 
  

The Corporate Plan is supported by activity that is coordinated through strategic and operational plans to 

deliver specific outcomes.  

The purpose of this report is to provide an update on the activities in quarter four (January – March 2018). 

Updates are presented within the vision headings: 

  

 Pioneering  

 Growing 

 Caring  

 Confident. 

  



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 4 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

2. SUMMARY  

In addition to providing updates on activities this report also highlights the four organisational priorities 

relating to: 

  

Customer service – Customer standards are being developed with service areas as part of broader 

work on the Customer Service Strategy, including a new set of standards for all staff in responding to 

enquiries from Councillors (casework). More information on this activity can be found in section 3.1.1 

(PIA1) 

 
Care Quality Commission (CQC) review – In December 2017, Plymouth was the subject of a review 

of our local health and social care system from the CQC. The review focused on issues within/across the 

health and care systems. Following this review a number of recommendations were made and progress 

against these is updated in activity update CAA4 within the Caring section (section 5.1.2) 

 

Elections – we continue to work to improve our electoral services with a focus on capability, resilience 

and robustness. We have acted upon recommendations from the independent investigation following the 

June 2017 General Election and are implementing the improvement plan, which is being overseen by the 

new Head of Electoral Services. A group of officers are working with and supporting the core Electoral 

Services team, with the shared aim of restoring confidence and trust in the Council’s ability to deliver a 

high-quality service for voters and those standing for election. Through effective identification and 

mitigation of issues, our confidence in delivering a successful local election in May is very high. More 

information on this activity can be found in section 3.1.1 (PIA2) 

 

Street services – A group to understand and improve interactions between Customer Services and 

Street Scene and Waste Services has been focusing on improving customer experiences, including ensuring 

customers receive timely feedback and accurate information. This group involves Customer Services, 

Digital Services and Street Services and Waste teams to drive through sustainable improvements.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 5 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

3. PIONEERING 

3.1. Priority Activity Highlights 

PIONEERING - Priority Activity Status 

Quality services focused on customers’ needs On Track 

PIA1 Deliver improved customer standards On Track 

PIA2 Deliver a consistently high-quality service for voters and those standing for election On Track 

Note 

Please note that there are two further activities that are particularly relevant at this time in terms 

of meeting customer need. These can be found in the following sections of the document: 

 CAA4 - Care Quality Commission (CQC) Review of the Health and Social Care System. 

 COA7 - Develop and deliver the Plan for the Modernisation of Waste and Street Services 

 

 

Balancing the books On Track 

PIA3 Deliver the Medium Term Financial Strategy On Track 

PIA4 Identify sustainable, alternative and increased sources of income On Track 

New ways of working On Track 

PIA5 Enhance our capability to make evidence based decisions 

 

On Track 

PIA6 Implement Innovative Transformation Programmes On Track 

Best use of Council assets On Track 

PIA7 Deliver the Asset Management Plan and maximise the community value of our assets On Track 

Working constructively with everyone On Track 

PIA8 Deliver the Cities of Service vision promoting volunteering, individual effort and personal 

responsibility 
On Track 

PIA9 Work collaboratively with the voluntary and community sector to deliver better outcomes for 

citizens 
On Track 

PIA10 Develop a partnership governance framework to ensure that partnerships make robust decisions, 

are accountable and compliant with regulations 
On Track 

 

3.2. Quality services focused on customers’ needs 

 PIA1 – Deliver improved customer standards 

The Business Planning Cycle, which included a requirement for each department to develop Service 

Standards by the end of March 2018, was launched in February 2018. Support was provided to the 

Senior Leadership Team through briefings and documented guidance on how to create service 

standards.  

Support has also been provided by Performance Advisors to review performance targets for the new 

financial year and to align the three key supporting business plans: 

 Key Performance Indicators Scorecards 

 Operational and Strategic Risk Registers  

 Customer Service Standards. 

The Digital Services Team has been updating all of the associated ‘Firmstep’ system processes. This is to 

ensure that the customer knows what to expect from us when they use an online service. We have 

updated our automated responses to clearly communicate each Service Standard to the customer. 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 6 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

The testing phase for a two-stage complaints process was finalised in mid-March. Staff have been briefed 

and the new process went live on 1 April 2018. The two-stage complaints process ensures that when 

we do not meet the standards that our customers expect, a fair and transparent complaints process is 

initiated.  

An evaluation of the new Member Casework process has been undertaken following roll out of a new 

approach in January 2018. The lessons learned have been used to improve the process and to support 

the development of an MP Enquiry process within Firmstep. 

Additionally, the Customer Liaison Manager role has now been in post full time since 1 March 2018. 

 

PIA2 – Deliver a consistently high-quality service for voters and those 

standing for election 

Continuous improvement is being made on registration and election preparation under the direction of 

the new Head of Electoral Services and collaboration with the project team. The Head of Service has 

full control over operational management with appropriate deferment to the Returning Officer and 

Electoral Registration Officer for decisions affecting voters, candidates and agents.  

Work is ongoing to increase the capacity of the service, which includes telephony migration to 

Customer Services, collaboration between Street Naming and Numbering teams and Council Tax Team 

to maximise registration opportunities, as well as creating an enhanced support network outside of the 

Elections core team. Professional elections and registration training has commenced for new team 

members, with the aim of gaining Association of Electoral Administrators (AEA) Certificates by 2020. 

Within quarter four, the Electoral Services Team has moved directorates and is now within the Chief 

Executive’s Office, giving closer operational and management links to the Corporate Management Team, 

including the Chief and Assistant Chief Executive. The move also strengthens the team’s existing links 

with their communications, performance and policy colleagues. 

The following key milestones have been achieved during quarter four: 

 Constitutional Review Group assurance sessions  

 Recruitment of sufficient polling station and count staff  

 Booking of polling stations and other election activity-related venues  
 Training and scripting of Customer Services staff for registration and election enquiries 

 Telephony migration to Customer Services  

 Poll card data sent to the printer  

 Notice of Election on Monday 26 March. 

 

3.3. Balancing the books 

PIA3 – Deliver the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS)  

The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) was approved by Council on the 20 November 2017 and 

work has begun to review the MTFS for submission to Council in November 2018.  

Full Council approved the 2018/19 revenue and capital budget on 26 February 2018. This included the 

council tax increase for residents covering council services and Police and Fire. The overall increase of 

4.47% is proportioned as follows: 

 An increase to the Council Tax by 1.47% 

 An increase to the Council Tax Adult Social Care ‘precept’ by 3%. 

https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/aboutcouncil/councilfinancesandaccounts/mediumtermfinancialstrategy


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 7 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

The Medium Term Financial Strategy has been updated to reflect the final approved budget. This 

includes the latest resource assumptions and cost pressures across all services. These will be monitored 

and updated throughout the year as and when new information becomes available. 

 

PIA4 – Identify sustainable, alternative and increased sources of income 

Opportunities for new income streams are continually reviewed by all services. Additional income has 

been generated through the Asset Investment Fund and by generating new revenue rental streams. 

These have been built into the Medium Term Financial Strategy and 2018/19 Budget as a step up on the 

existing target. 

Following the work by the Commercial Enterprise Team, Cabinet has approved the transfer of the 

Council’s ‘Fraud Service’ to the Devon Audit Partnership as part of the initiative to generate income and 

sell services. 

The Commercial Enterprise Team have been working closely with the Financial Analysis Services Team, 

whose primary focus is cost control and better value for money service outcomes. The collaboration 

and combination of skillsets from these teams ensures the best financial outcomes for the Council from 

both existing services and new enterprises. We are exploring how these teams can work together 

permanently. The first two services to be supported have entered the ‘Commercial Enterprise 

Incubator’ trial to help enable them to bring in new income and we are exploring how this links with the 

‘Making Service Change Happen’ that the Organisational Development Team operates. 

Progress continues with the transfer of Payroll, Pensions and HR Systems to Delt in May 2018, 

continuing the objective to work with partners and generate increased income for the Council. 

 

3.4. New ways of working 

PIA5 – Enhance our capability to make evidence based decisions 

To support evidence-based decisions, data is regularly being made available online. The Data Plymouth 

website, led by the Policy and Intelligence Team in partnership with the Open Data Project, is being 

continuously updated and improved upon. This quarter, the narrative and statistics have been refreshed 

to reflect the recently published Plymouth Report 2017 and a new key facts and figures page is currently 

in development. This will give instant access to a range of statistics about different aspects of the city. 

There has been some slippage on this activity due to design resources having to be allocated to the Joint 

Local Plan inspection; however work is underway to bring this back on track.  

Results from the Plymouth Report 2017 have now been presented to all city partnerships. A 2018 

version is now being prepared and will include two ‘Deep Dive’ analyses focused on housing and 

resident insight. The Plymouth Report 2018 is also being developed to be more closely aligned with the 

Plymouth Plan performance framework.  

Corporate options for a data management system are being discussed, with plans for exploring options 

in quarter one 2018/19.  

 

PIA6 – Implement Innovative Transformation Programmes  

The disaggregation of Transformation resource into the People Directorate has presented an 

opportunity to rationalise governance surrounding the Integrated Health and Wellbeing (IHWB) 

Programme. This will ensure that cross-cutting solutions are prioritised around those system challenges 

within the Devon Sustainability and Transformation Partnership (STP), whilst continuing to work under 

the system leadership of the Plymouth Health and Wellbeing Board.  

http://www.dataplymouth.co.uk/
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/publichealth/factsandfiguresjointstrategicneedsassessment/plymouthreport


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 8 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

The IHWB programme will continue to be guided by the four integrated commissioning strategies. 

Progress alongside the business remains at pace and on track to develop our place-based approach for 

Plymouth and the Western locality. We also continue to seek opportunities for improved integration 

and synergy between health and care services across the city. To further enhance partnership working, 

greater clarity and purpose has been embedded in the four enabling System Design Groups, which 

facilitate stakeholder engagement and collaboration. Working hand-in-glove with System Improvement 

Boards, they will be accountable to the Local Care Partnership. 

The progress that the Plymouth Integrated Health and Wellbeing system has made was acknowledged in 

the recent CQC Local System Review, which now has a robust plan in place to ensure continued 

improvement. 

There continues to be challenges across our systems and our focus on improvement and transformation 

across a range of areas is as acute as ever. The first of 12 Plymouth Wellbeing Hubs launched on 23 

March and this is expected to provide a blueprint and impetus for those that follow. One of our more 

challenging areas is in the development of a service delivery model leading to a reduction in the number 

of children and young people being taken into long-term care, resulting in more sustainable outcomes. 

Our partnership with Torbay may provide further opportunities to innovate and transform. 

Benefits of £9.981m have been delivered in 2017/18. 

The disaggregation of some transformation resource into the Transformation and Change Directorate 

(T&C) has presented challenges in relation to balancing the budget of the team, but also an opportunity 

to rationalise the governance surrounding change across the Directorate. As a result the T&C 

Directorate has focused their efforts on three areas of change: 

1. Continuation of delivery against the Shared Services Business Case, where significant progress has 

been made with political decisions, trade union recognition and development of service 

specifications and service migration plans. 

2. The delivery of the Way We Work Programme for the entire organisation, where a business case 

has been approved, financial commitments made to deliver a full technology deployment, first 

cohort of device roll-out commenced, accommodation principles agreed and work commenced on 

options for future accommodation needs. Furthermore, progress on the Office 365 business case 

has been successful and a plan on Information Management has been devised and is due to be 
implemented in the first quarter of 2018/19. 

3. Delivery of continuous improvement activities across the entire directorate to be led by a group of 

senior managers (operational delivery group) headed-up by the Service Director for Customer 

Services. 

The Transformation of the Corporate Centre (TCC) Programme closes quarter four having delivered 

on all of its project commitments from 2017/18 and produced £2.773m of revenue savings. 

The GAME2 programme is now fully embedded within the Place Directorate following the 

disaggregation of the Transformation team. Key activities include a reforecasting of the Plymouth 

Growth Dividend, which has identified a further £3.7m over the next three years. The growth is 

focused around a significant new housing delivery programme and the fruition of a great deal of work by 

teams from the Place Directorate to bring forward exciting major developments across the City. The 

One Public Estate programme expanded this quarter to secure an additional £3.9m capital monies from 

the Land Release Fund to help bring forward a range of new developments. The programme continues 

to work closely with Street Services as part of the modernisation plan offering capacity, resource and 

helping to refocus improvement activities. A new work-stream is the coordination of Plymouth’s bid to 

the £840m Transforming Cities Fund. This will initially be via an outline expression of interest which, 

subject to shortlisting, will be followed by a more detailed co-designed submission with the Department 

for Transport. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/apply-for-the-transforming-cities-fund


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 9 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

 

3.5. Best use of Council Assets 

PIA7 – Deliver the Asset Management Plan and maximise the community 

value of our assets 
Significant progress has been made in quarter four in finalising workforce requirements, identifying 

customer and cluster (service cluster) needs, developing and having agreement to a set of 

accommodation principles, and defining a group of accommodation options. 

It is anticipated that the project will focus on a single accommodation option in quarter one of 2018/19, 
which will go through detailed feasibility studies and designs. These are anticipated to be completed by 

early quarter two of 2018/19. 

Works are currently underway to build a new welfare block at the rear of the main garage at Prince 

Rock Depot; this work is scheduled to complete in June 2018. The project team are finalising 

procurement processes for the replacement of the garage roof and the welfare facilities at Weston Mill. 

Requirements are being gathered for the second phase of works to the main office block at Prince Rock 

to improve welfare facilities and increase the number of meeting rooms. This second phase can be 

delivered using existing contracts. All works are scheduled to be completed by October 2018. 

 

3.6. Working constructively with everyone 

PIA8 – Deliver the Cities of Service vision promoting volunteering, individual 

effort and personal responsibility and PIA9 – Work collaboratively with the 

voluntary and community sector to deliver better outcomes for citizens 

The ‘Our Plymouth’ website was launched by the Plymouth Octopus Project, a cities voluntary and 

community sector (VCS) infrastructure organisation known as POP, at the ‘Crest of a Wave’ event on 

15 March 2018. This will become public as the first phase evolves. 

The ‘Our Plymouth’ project has received funding from donations raised by Dave Young (Project 

Champion and Chairman of the private sector Una group) via public and private sector partners and 

also via POP funding. This funding enables us to recruit a project manager and launch the first phase of 
the website, which aims to: 

 build a collection of positive contributions that the people of Plymouth make to their city 

 provide details on how people can get involved 

 include a call for action for both Mayflower 400 and British Red Cross volunteers.  

A communications plan has been agreed by the ‘Our Plymouth’ Steering Group and it is expected to be 

fully functioning for members of the public during volunteers’ week, 1–7 June 2018.  

 

PIA9 - Welcoming City  

The Controlling Migration Fund is now fully developed. The bid is for funding to work with community 

representatives in the four wards that have the lowest community cohesion rating (Devonport, 
Budshead, Honicknowle and Stoke). We are now awaiting the next round of funding to be announced 

by the Government.  

The Plymouth City Resident Survey was distributed to 8,000 households in partnership with Marketing 

Means, a local independent research company. The Survey will build a picture of residents’ perceptions 

and feelings about the city, their community and their life and the data collected will help us to 

understand our progress and direction of travel around community cohesion. The work is on track with 

initial results available to the Council and the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner. The final 

https://ourplymouth.co.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/controlling-migration-fund-prospectus


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 10 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

report is due in April 2018. See Error! Reference source not found. for further information about 

the resident survey. 

‘Hope in the Heart’ was chosen as the preferred provider for the Schools Empathy Pilot programme 

which commenced in late 2017. Engagement of schools was the first priority and whilst there was a 

mixed uptake from the targeted schools, four schools are actively engaging with the pilot. The provider 

is positive about the engagement of these schools and with progress so far. A number of sessions have 

already taken place and children in particular are engaging and receiving it well. The programme’s 

milestones are on target.    

Plymouth City Council has agreed £5,000 of funding to work with the Police Diverse Communities 

Team to increase the capacity of the existing 21 hate crime reporting centres to tackle Hate Crime. The 

funding will specifically be used for marketing/publicity for the existing centres as well as enabling the 

centres to be staffed for additional hours. A memorandum of understanding has been completed 

between Plymouth City Council and the Police Diversity Team with a view to starting partnership work 

in April 2018. Whilst this may not result in more reporting centres, it will ensure that the current 

network is supported and that we are equipped to deal with an increase in hate crime/incident 

reporting. 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 11 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

4. GROWING 

4.1. Priority Activity Highlights 

GROWING - Priority Activity Status 

Quality jobs and valuable skills  On Track 

GRA1 Work with the Growth Board to deliver the Local Economic Strategy creating jobs and 

investment 
On Track 

GRA2 
Deliver new high value jobs by delivering the Oceansgate development programme as part of 

our City Deal 

 

On Track 

GRA3 Deliver the Box project (formally the History Centre) to support jobs and investment  On Track 

GRA4 Deliver the Vision for Education Plan 

 

On Track 

GRA5 Work with the Employment and Skills Board to deliver the Plan for Employment and Skills 

 

On Track 

Broad range of homes On Track 

GRA6 Deliver the Plan for Homes 

 

On Track 

Increased levels of investment On Track 

GRA7 Take forward and deliver major development schemes 

 

On Track 

GRA8 
Continue to develop a development pipeline using Council land and property assets and a 

strong programme of inward investment activity 

 

On Track 

Meeting future infrastructure needs On Track 

GRA9 Progress strategic transport projects  

 

On Track 

GRA10 Maximise resources available to the city 

 

On Track 

GRA11 Transform the gateways to the city  

 

On Track 

Green and pleasant city  On Track 

GRA12 Support the growth of community owned energy solutions 

 

On Track 

GRA13 Deliver the Active Neighbourhoods Project  

 

On Track 

GRA14 Deliver new community park and farm at Derriford 

 

On Track 

GRA15 Deliver enhancements to Central Park informed by the masterplan 

 

On Track 

 

4.2. Quality jobs and valuable skills 

GRA1 – Work with the Growth Board to deliver the Local Economic Strategy 

creating jobs and investment 

We continue to work with partners on existing bids, as well as identifying and developing new bids to 

support the delivery of the Local Economic Strategy. We are successfully delivering projects such as the 

European Maritime and Fisheries Fund (EMFF) funded Life Jacket project, which has now been fully 

allocated. A new round of Social Enterprise Investment Fund has recently closed. Two awards have 
been approved and we are waiting for additional information from other applications.  

Construction continues across a number of locations throughout the city. The Oceansgate phase 1 

opening ceremony took place in quarter four as well as laying the foundation stone at the Box, starting 

the steel frame at Drake Circus Leisure and Langage industrial units and started on site at the Range 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 12 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

HQ in Derriford. All these projects make a strong contribution to the City's economy through 

construction jobs, permanent jobs (The Range HQ will create over 570 new jobs) and business rates 

(See also update for GRA7). 

We continue with our Business Relationship Programme to engage with our local business community 

and sectoral support and have supported a meeting of the creative industries. The next Marine Tech 

Expo will take place in June 2018 and key speakers have now been confirmed, whilst we have also 

commissioned a nuclear mapping report for Plymouth.  

The events team continues to successfully deliver numerous events in Plymouth, such as Flavour Fest, 

Lord Mayor’s Day and the Seafood Festival. Tickets for Plymouth’s first Ocean City Sounds festival have 

gone on sale now and headline acts have been announced. The Visitor Guide 2018 has been produced 

and launched, as have three new promotional videos of the City, including a ‘live, work in Plymouth’ 

video, which has had 95,000 views. Our Tourism Information Centre has won the South West (SW) 

Tourism Bronze Award. 

 

GRA2 – Deliver new high value jobs by delivering the Oceansgate 

development programme as part of our City Deal 

Work on Oceansgate phase 1 to deliver 1,140m2 of office and 1,290m2 of industrial space is due for 

completion, generating significant market interest to create up to 177 new jobs.  

We have currently agreed leases with three businesses, with strong interest from another eight. A 
funding bid for £2.4m of European Regional Development Fund (ERDF) money to create a Marine 

Business Technology Centre (MBTC) at site is going through the final stages of appraisal and it is 

anticipated that a formal announcement will be made shortly. The MBTC will promote innovation and 

collaboration between high-tech marine institutions and businesses. New infrastructure construction 

works commenced during January 2018.  

A financial tool has been developed that enables the Oceansgate team to model different investment 

scenarios. A preferred combination of options has been identified that will open the way for the 

construction of Oceansgate phase 2 and the servicing of phase 3, and at same time provide sufficient 

income to pay for ongoing security costs in phase 3.  

We have received confirmation that an outline application for £2.6m of ERDF has been approved and 

we have been invited to submit a full application. The Council had previously approved a loan of £6.1m 

in November and, together with existing funding, this makes up the £14.3m required for phase 2. 

 

GRA3 – Deliver The Box project (formally the History Centre) to support 

jobs and investment  

The project has continued to develop over this quarter, with the ground floor slab being completed and 

the columns and cores due to be finished within this period. 

The Foundation Stone ceremony took place on the 9 March and there continues to be a positive 

reaction from both the public and the media.  

Hard Hat tours remain popular with the public and members of the council alike; these will continue to 

run for the duration of the project and are currently booked up well in advance. In addition to this, 

school visits are being organised.  

The team are far surpassing the social values benchmark of the construction contract. To date, the 

contractor has demonstrated that 81% of the sub-contractors and consultants are from a PL postcode. 

Furthermore, Dylan Gilbery was shortlisted as a finalist for the Building Plymouth Construction 

Apprentice of the Year Awards 2018.  

https://plymhearts.org/whats-on/hardhattour-nov2017/


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 13 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

Responsibility for the staff and collections of South West Film and Television Archive and the South 

West Image Bank has now been transferred into The Box. 

We continue to work on the designs of the gallery spaces and are due to hold another public 

consultation at the end of April; details of how to get involved will be published on the website closer 

to the time.    

  

GRA4 – Deliver the Vision for Education Plan  

The Plan for Education is based upon establishing a new partnership with our schools, colleges and 

providers. Widespread consultation has taken place focused upon what a partnership might look. We 
are now choosing the form of partnership from the options identified in collaboration with our 

partners.  

Such an approach is innovative and has enabled us to establish a way of working for the future that 

meets the needs of children and young people and by doing so, supports the future economic 

development and success of the city. This approach has also meant we have taken a strategic view of the 

resources we need in the future to maximise our impact as efficiently as possible. 

This means we are now at the stage of creating a new delivery vehicle to meet our key priorities and to 

better support the wide range of education services in the city through to 2020 and beyond. 

Key developments such as the creation of the ‘Plymouth Challenge’ to raise pupils’ achievement and 

establishing the Plymouth Education Board designed to give strategic direction to developments in 

education are well on the way to becoming embedded into the education infrastructure of the city. 

  

GRA5 – Work with the Employment and Skills Board (ESB) to deliver the 

Plan for Employment and Skills  

The National Careers Strategy was launched in December 2017 providing clear guidance on the 

requirements of schools. Work now is being undertaken to understand the implications of this for 

schools and also where the Local Authority can provide support around the ‘Gatsby’ principles which 

provide eight benchmarks of good Career Guidance; these were identified by Sir John Holman as part of 

the Gatsby review.  

The Skills Show South West returns to the Plymouth Pavilions for a third year and greater footfall is 

anticipated partly in the light of the new National Careers Strategy. Additionally: 

 Sector based events were held in the Guildhall in March 2018 with Building Plymouth and  

Plymouth Manufacturing Group undertaking a joint venture 

 A City wide Science, Technology, Engineering and Mathematics (STEM) calendar will be published in 

April. 

 Discussions are still ongoing with national partners as a result of the Digital Policy Alliance cyber 

skills pilot (the first in the country). 

 The City Council website will be able to provide residents with a range of on line resources related 

to IAG, the local skills and employability offer that will support residents and also staff in schools. 

 Building Plymouth has developed a school support programme based on the Constructing 

Excellence South West (CESW) initiative “Adopt a school”.   

 

Building Plymouth will continue to develop greater links with key clients across the city to understand 

building programmes. Links with Economic Development colleagues within the council are already firmly 

established. 

https://plymhearts.org/news/


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 14 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

 

4.3. Broad range of homes 

GRA6 – Deliver the Plan for Homes 
We remain on track for delivering the Joint Local Plan target of 13,200 homes by 2034 (for the 

Plymouth City Administration Area). 

Housing schemes have been completed at the former Estover Primary School site and Langley Crescent, 

generating an additional 68 and 14 homes, respectively. First homes have also been completed at 

Tamerton Vale (22 homes), Woodlands / Hillside (32 homes) and Redwood Drive (9 homes). In total, 

we are projecting the completion of 322 new affordable homes for 2017/18. 

We are working with Homes England on the acquisition of the Coypool site, which should complete 

this financial year and will support the accelerated delivery of around 400 new homes. Further funding 

to continue work towards the Plan for Homes has been successfully secured, including £2.8m Housing 

Infrastructure Funding for phase 5 North Prospect, and £3.9m Land Release Funding for six PCC 

brownfield land projects. 

We are currently awaiting a funding announcement from Homes England on the outcome of our 

Accelerated Construction bid.  

Empty Homes Financial Assistance  

We have spent £76,000 on two empty properties and we expect to spend a further £50,000 by the end 

of March. 

To date, we have allocated six loans totalling £178,000. We have a further five applications for £379,000 

that are currently undergoing due diligence, and two applications for £230,000 in the pipeline.           

Enforcement  

We have applied to the Secretary of State to confirm a Compulsory Purchase Order (CPO) against a 

property that has been empty for more than 20 years. The owner has objected to the proposed CPO. 

We are also looking to progress enforcement action including CPOs, Empty Dwelling Management 

Orders and Enforced Sales on a number of properties in quarter one of 2018/19. 

 

4.4. Increased levels of investment 

GRA7 – Take forward and deliver major development schemes 

The City's development programme continues apace with some incredible milestones reached in the 

last quarter. We currently have £250m of development projects underway with a further £300m of 

projects in development. 

In the last quarter, we have opened phase 1 at Oceansgate, laid the foundation stone at The Box, 

started the steel frame at Drake Circus Leisure and Langage industrial units, and started work on site at 

the Range HQ in Derriford. We also continue to make good progress on Colin Campbell Court, Bath 

Street, the Railway Station, 1620, and Oceansgate phase 2.  

In addition, there is a lot of Private Sector development activity including locations such as Millbay, the 

Pavilions, former Derry’s site, Higher Home Park, and Marsh Mills. 

All of these projects make a strong contribution to the City's economy through the creation of 

construction jobs, permanent jobs (The Range HQ will create over 570 new jobs), and business rates. 

  



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 15 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

GRA8 – Continue to develop a development pipeline using Council land and 

property assets and a strong programme of inward investment activity 

Economic Development and Strategic Planning and Infrastructure remain focused on building a future 

development pipeline. The commercial development pipeline is now over £500m, architect development 

pipeline is £75m and our Asset Investment pipeline is £75m. Future schemes under development include 

Colin Campbell Court, Bath Street, Civic Centre, Melville building at the Royal William Yard, 1620, 

Millbay, Railway Station Regeneration Project, Range HQ building and Oceansgate phase 2. There are a 

large number of new opportunities in the Plymouth Local Plan which will be actively explored once the 

plan has been adopted.  

Through our extensive partnership work with the private sector and /local national stakeholders, we 

anticipate that our Dept. of Int. Trade nationally counted foreign inward investments successes for the 

City for 17/18 will reach an unprecedented figure of around 7 Foreign Direct Investments (FDI’s) (our 

previous average was 1-2 per year). We also provided temporary resourcing for the Heart of the 

Southwest Local Economic Partnership inward investment activity over the last financial year and that 

too will result in an all-time high of 25 FDI’s successes since their records began back in 2012.  

 

4.5. Meeting future infrastructure needs 

GRA9 – Progress strategic transport projects  

In addition to work to transform gateways to Plymouth, there has also been significant progress in 

relation to improving transport in the city. Updates include: 

Northern Corridor Strategic Transport Schemes  

Derriford Transport Scheme  

Works were substantially completed and traffic restrictions removed by the end of March, as planned. 

Related works to replace the signals at Sendall’s Way have been postponed to summer 2018. Charlton 

Road right-hand turn to be closed temporarily pending the development of a traffic light solution, which 

is currently out to consultation – closing date 23 April. 

Northern Corridor Junction Improvement Schemes (2015/16 – 2020/21) 

Construction of phases 3-5 on Mannamead Road is expected to commence in summer 2018 and take 
approximately five months. 

Northern Corridor Strategic Cycle Network Improvements (2015/16 – 2019/20)  

Phase 1 of Tavistock Road improvements were completed as part of the Derriford Transport Scheme in 

March 2018.  

Forder Valley Link Road  

The funding agreement has been signed for the Highways England Global Heritage Fund (GHF) bid for 

£4.47m. Pre-construction and detailed design is in progress, whilst the Planning Application was 

submitted February 2018. Discussions are ongoing with Persimmon regarding the construction of their 

haul road.  

A business case submission to the Department for Transport (DfT) will inform our planning application 

in July 2018. Although there is slippage in the planning approval process and consequently the 

submission of the business case, the construction timetable remains on track to run from October 2018 

to November 2020. 

 

 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 16 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

Forder Valley Interchange  

Early feasibility and modelling have been completed. Geotechnical surveys began in March in preparation 

for selecting the preferred option in September 2018.  

We are on track to commence construction from October 2018 to November 2020 as part of the 

Forder Valley Link Road scheme. 

Morlaix Drive  

Both the feasibility design and liaison with landowners are underway. The Hospital Trust is supportive of 

the scheme and has offered land to support the delivery. This project is currently on track to construct 

between May 2019 to May 2020.  

Manadon to Crownhill  

PCC has submitted its consultation response to DfT requesting that the A386 is included in the Major 

Road Network and to become eligible for funding from the Road Fund Licence from 2020. PCC are 

proactively preparing funding bids to bring forward delivery from 2020/21 and we have a bid in 

submission with Highways England for some funding from GHF. 

Eastern Corridor Strategic Transport Schemes  

Eastern Corridor Junction Improvement Schemes (2015/16 – 2020/21) 

The Junction improvement programme includes the potential to improve seven junctions on Plymouth 

Road and three junctions in Plymstock. Consultation has been undertaken on Traffic Regulation Orders 

and will end on the 17 April. For phase 1 including Cot Hill, feasibility is complete, the design in outline 

is complete and site investigations are ongoing to enable the completion of detailed design, including the 

design of the retaining structures along the Tory Brook. Construction will begin in autumn 2018 with 

South West Highways (SWH). Feasibility designs for phase 2 of Plymouth Road and phase 3 of 

Plymstock are also in progress. 

Eastern Corridor Strategic Cycle Network (2015/16 – 2020/21) 

The off-road cycle route (Ride to Broxton Drive) was completed in March 2018. The cycle route from 

Barbican to Laira Bridge is complete except for a small section on Commercial Road, which is due to 

utilities. Consultation on designs for Armada Way took place in March as part of the Better Places 

project. 

  

GRA10 – Maximise resources available to the city 

In support of the delivery of the objectives of the Joint Local Plan, the five year programme of key 

infrastructure investment continues with further significant transport improvements to the Northern 

and Eastern Corridor being planned, as detailed above. These are benefiting from a range of external 

funding including the Local Economic Partnership (LEP) Growth Deal, National Productivity Investment 

funding, and Growth and Housing funding. The Railway Station improvement scheme has also been 

approved into the Capital programme, again benefitting from the LEP Growth Deal funding.  

The first phase of public realm improvements in the City Centre has been approved into the Capital 

Programme. Bids have also been made to the Coastal Communities Fund to support the trails and event 

infrastructure needed for Mayflower 400. 

 

GRA11 – Transform the gateways to the city  

There has been significant activity on the Northern and Eastern gateways to the City.  

https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/plymouthandsouthwestdevonjointlocalplanexamination


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 17 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

For the Northern Corridor Scheme (Woolwell to the George), topographical surveys of highways and 

third party land have been completed, and environmental surveys are underway.  

Pavement assessment surveys have been completed and we are currently awaiting the report.  

The report on the options consulted on will be published shortly with the preferred option to be 

determined in the summer. 

Construction of the Woolwell to the George scheme is planned to be complete by 2022. 

We are currently on track to start construction of a one year project for the Eastern Corridor on 

Plymouth Road, which will be completed in 2019.  

For the Charles Cross Transport Improvement Scheme, LEP Funding Agreement has been signed by 

PCC, and the 3D design, pavement surveys and C4s (utilities) have all been completed. There are 

ongoing co-ordination meetings with British Land, The Box, Viaduct, and Mayflower 400, with 

construction expected to take place between January 2019 and October 2019. 

 

4.6. Green and pleasant city 

GRA12 – Support the growth of community owned energy solutions 

During quarter four, work through the Financial Instruments for Energy Renovation Policies 

(FINERPOL) project 

(https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/environmentandpollution/climatechangeandenergy/howweretacklingclimat

echange/finerpolproject) has led to the submission of a consortium bid with SW authorities, which 

will bring in circa. £300k revenue funding to support the development of local non-domestic energy 

efficiency invest-to-save opportunities. 

Our Energy Company Obligation partnership with EON and local installers has delivered 40 insulation 

measures, 22 replacement gas boilers, and 36 households with new storage heaters – saving residents 

£870,000 over the lifetime of those efficiency measures. 

Our partnership with Plymouth Energy Community (PEC) has: 

 Provided 208 homes with energy efficiency advice and improvements in the Devonport / Ham / St 

Budeaux areas, with an estimated total saving of £47,895 per year.   

 Given one-to-one advice to 344 residents living, or supporting people with, disability and long-term 
illness.  

 Supported 73 vulnerable households through complex case work, resulting in those households 

being on average £655 per annum better off.   

 PEC’s LED lighting refit was completed at Lipson Vale Primary School and forecasted to save them 

over £3,500 per annum. Laira Green Primary School lighting retrofit is pencilled in for April, which 

will see annual savings of £4,300pa. 

 Delivered support to 1,250 vulnerable households across the Devon and Cornwall, saving 

£120,000pa. 

 Completed a SW Affordable Warmth scheme with Western Power Distribution (WPD) and 

provided bespoke one-to-one advice to more than 1,200 residents across Devon and Cornwall, 

achieving £120,000 of energy related savings. 

 Allowed its Cold Realities campaign to be displayed at Council House for four weeks and at Full 

Council. This resulted in £1,000 of community grants being offered by Councillors to tackle fuel 

poverty in Peverell. 

  

GRA13 – Deliver the Active Neighbourhoods Project  

https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/environmentandpollution/climatechangeandenergy/howweretacklingclimatechange/finerpolproject
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/environmentandpollution/climatechangeandenergy/howweretacklingclimatechange/finerpolproject


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 18 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

The Active Neighbourhoods Project is on track and continues to meet and exceed its project targets 

set by the Big Lottery Fund. Active Neighbourhoods is delivering physical improvements to five of our 

nature reserves, as well as improving the health and wellbeing of communities through targeted 

programmes, increasing access and engagement with nature. 

During quarter four, we delivered 35 family events, volunteer activities, training and citizen science in 

our five project sites – Ernesettle Creek, Budshead Wood, Teats Hill, Efford Marsh and Kings 

Tamerton. Participants walked 2,800km, 45,000 steps and burnt 10,000 calories between them. 

Despite the winter weather, we had great attendance at our February half-term events. These included 

partnership activities with the National Marine Aquarium, engaging 1,211 children and 630 adults in 

nature through arts, crafts, and volunteering. 

Our committed volunteers have supported improvements to nature reserves through 4,000 hours of 

volunteering to improve habitats, paths, entrances, and survey wildlife. This continues to be delivered 

through our weekly volunteer programme. 

We are also increasing our social media outreach and have increased our reach through Facebook. We 

now have 881 followers, 858 likes, and have reached 50,000 Plymouth residents. 

As part of our annual monitoring, we have published a summary report for years one and two of Active 

Neighbourhoods. 

  

GRA14 – Deliver new community park and farm at Derriford 

This objective is part of the Joint Local Plan (PLY 41) to deliver a ‘Derriford Community Park (which) 

will become a highly valued environmental, social and educational asset, a resource for the people of 

Plymouth and a regional destination for environmental learning.’  

During this quarter, the project team have been able to complete the winter work required for 

biodiversity improvements to the site as part of phase 1. This has included planting 100m of new 

hedgerow and carrying out management tasks to existing hedgerow, woodland and grassland. This has 

enabled us to continue our community engagement work and so this quarter has seen continued 

engagement with community groups and volunteers (256 volunteer hours, 17 community volunteering 

events in Q4) and building the following on Facebook to 567. 

As part of phase 3 work, five public consultation events were held in local community centres 

throughout January to discuss the proposed new foot and cycle path routes, with the successful 

engagement of over 200 members of the public and 60 formal responses. Consultants are now 

completing and costing the final plans and incorporating them with the Forder Valley Link Road plans. 

Work on the first routes will begin in early summer. 

  

GRA15 – Deliver enhancements to Central Park informed by the masterplan 

There have been ongoing general improvements to the park this quarter, including tree works, access, 

path and boundary improvements.  

Capital improvements for both the skate park extension and play area have started. We have completed 

a drainage study for the park and have now contracted out the next phase to develop and cost detailed 

designs. We have finalised the Community Sports Hub design (extension and refurb of existing Bowling 

Pavilion) and will be submitting a planning application next quarter. A contractor for the Sports Plateau 

has been procured and works will start in the summer (final date TBC). We have also delivered eight 

volunteering sessions within the park.  



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 19 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

5. CARING 

5.1. Priority Activity Highlights 

CARING - Priority Activity Status 

Focus on prevention and early intervention On Track 

CAA1 Deliver the Integrated Commissioning strategies On Track 

CAA2 Children and young people’s plan On Track 

CAA3 Deliver the Plan for Sport On Track 

Keeping people protected On Track 

CAA4 Care Quality Commission (CQC) Review of the Health and Social Care System On Track 

CAA5 Deliver the Safeguarding Improvement Plan for Adults and Children On Track 

CAA6 Deliver the Community Safety Plan On Track 

Inclusive communities On Track 

CAA7 Deliver the Welcoming City Action Plan On Track 

Reduce health inequalities On Track 

CAA8 Deliver the Child Poverty Action Plan On Track 

CAA9 Deliver Thrive Plymouth On Track 

 

5.2. Focus on prevention and early intervention 

CAA1 – Deliver the Integrated Commissioning Strategies 

The Community strategy has overseen the award of a contract to provide a crisis café for those with 

mental health problems, a café which we hope to have operational in April 2018. Through working with 

the provider market locally, an increased number of people have been supported to either return to or 

remain in Plymouth, close to local support networks, helping individuals to achieve positive 

outcomes. This work has also achieved approximately £1.5m savings across the system. We have been 

successful in applying for planning permission for a new extra care housing scheme for people aged 18-

64 with a learning disability. The scheme will consist of 12 individual one bedroom flats, with communal 

and staff space. It is expected that the scheme will be operational in summer 2019. The new provision 

will enable people to live more independent lives in a supportive environment, whilst also delivering 

efficiencies for health and social care. A number of ‘assistive technology’ solutions are being developed 

with partners from across the system to enable people to achieve and maintain independence in the 

community. These include technology that informs the support that people need, and affords the 

opportunity to the right sized care packages and use of Skype for GP consultations.   

The Wellbeing strategy action plan continues to deliver across a number of themes. The Prescribing 

delivery plan is still on course to deliver its 2017/18 savings target, although the cost of prescribing per 

head of population remains above the national average. Other work includes the continuation of 

support in embedding pharmacy resources in GP practices through our Medicines Optimisation team. A 

number of interventions are underway to try and ease the pressure on Primary Care. The social 

prescribing scheme in Plymouth continues to be implemented positively, providing link workers 

between primary care and the VCS, which will target those GPs with longer waiting times to relieve 

pressure. Other practices are developing working arrangements with a collaborative approach wherever 

this speeds up or supports transformation. We are exploring and developing an approach in line with 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 20 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

the Primary Care Home Model, which is a model that would see extended primary care teams based on 

disease areas and/or other cohorts of people. The new Dementia Advisor Service provided by Livewell 

Southwest goes live on the 1 April.                

The Children and Young People’s commissioning plan in quarter four oversaw the commencement 

of the residential block contract from 1 March. The contract secures 14 beds in or near to Plymouth, to 

enable local children in care to remain as close to the city as possible. A multi-agency group is in place 

to work very closely with the commissioned providers. 

We are working with neighbouring authorities (Devon, Torbay and Somerset) to deliver the Peninsula 

fostering contract from the 1 April 2018. This will support our work to ensure that there are enough 

local foster carers to meet the needs of Plymouth children. Looking ahead, the commissioning intentions 

for 2018-20 include plans to deliver a flexible and reactive support offer for children and young people 

in crisis, both in care and on the edge of care. This would aim to prevent escalation into high cost 

placements and hospital, where a different approach would be in the best interest of the child. 

The Enhanced and Specialist strategy has overseen the Nursing Forum implementation to support 

sustainability across nursing homes, including workforce development, specialist training, and 

revalidation, networking and improving practice. The first workshop was held on 21 February and 

quarterly forums have been booked going forward. We have implemented a pilot where Devon 

Doctors will provide clinical support for SPOT Discharge to Assess beds, which will run from January 

2018 to June 2018. We are also bidding for additional funding from the Pharmacy Integration Fund to 

support the deployment of expert pharmacy teams to work in care homes from 2018. QAIT (Quality 

Assurance and Improvement Team) is leading on the Enhanced Health in Care Homes Vanguard 

Programme, which includes the Red Bag pilot, improved hydration and nutrition, end of life care, 

dementia care, and a multi-disciplinary team approach to support care homes. 

  

CAA2 – Children and young people’s plan 

The next quarter sees the beginning of the phase 3 approach to the development of Gateway and Hub. 

We are seeking to move towards a co-located model for Hub and Gateway over the next 3-6 months. 

This aims to ensure greater efficiency and consistency in how we provide services to children and 

families through managing contacts and referrals, across a more streamlined process and better dialogue 

with partners. 

The improvement plan for the Plymouth Referral and Assessment Service (PRAS) has been successful 

and the service is now functioning well. Caseloads are near optimum levels. The timeliness of single 

assessments has improved so that the outturn for 2018 is predicted to be 74%, and timeliness in month 

for March so far is 93%.  

The pressures in the children’s social work service continue in relation to caseload but management 

plans are in place to deal with this proactively and we anticipate a significant shift in the next quarter. 

The work to review the Care Leavers Service is ongoing, with a final paper presented to the Director 

for Children’s Services (DCS) in the next few weeks.  

In relation to the Safeguarding and Quality Assurance (QA), the service is aligning itself to adopt a 
strengths-based approach, with some independent chairs visiting neighbouring authorities to capture 

learning to further inform the new model for Plymouth.  

Performance-wise, the Quality Performance Review Monitoring goes from strength to strength with the 

full engagement of all managers across children’s services, and the Quality Assurance Framework now 

signed off by the DCS and ready for implementation.   

 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 21 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

CAA3 – Deliver the Plan for Sport  

As part of the Participation theme, our Sports Development Unit (SDU), together with the 

Plymotion Team and Green Infrastructure Team, have promoted and delivered a range of sport and 

physical activity programmes for helping people to get active and stay active. This theme is also greatly 

contributing towards the delivery of the Activity Neighbourhood Project (Priority Activity – GRA13). 

The Plymotion Team have delivered ‘Led Cycle Rides’ and ‘Led Walks’ to anyone in the city who wants 

to more active. This has been supporting the Mayflower 400 (M400) programme and the ‘Led walks’ 

have been trialling the M400 Heritage Walks. Adult Cycle Training and engagement with local schools 

through the walking and cycling programmes are being delivered, largely within the three Growth areas: 
Eastern Corridor, City Centre and Waterfront and Derriford and Northern corridor. The SDU 

continue to target deprived areas of the city and, through the ‘Activate Plymouth Project’, delivered a 

range of activities from Cheezi Fit to Badminton. The ‘Fit and Fed’ holiday hunger programme was also 

delivered in the school half term holiday to deprived neighbourhoods.  

Within the Place theme, we have supported the improvement of football pitches at Central Park, 

Bond Street and Higher Efford for delivery in quarter one. We have also completed phase 1 of a nine 

month improvement programme of 32 outdoor play spaces and have secured £800k towards outdoor 

play improvements for 38 play areas across the city over the next two years. 

As part of the Pride theme this quarter, the Mayflower 400 sports programme is launched a sports 

fund to enable sports organisations to host Mayflower 400 sports activities and events. The Plymouth 

Life Centre has hosted the British Diving Championships and British Elite Diving Championship, the 

economic impact of which was beneficial to the city. In late January we supported the Plymouth Herald’s 

Sports Personality of the Year Award, held at Plymouth Pavilions and sponsored the community sports 

category in order to support and recognise success. 

 

5.3. Keeping people protected 

CAA4 – Care Quality Commission (CQC) Review of the Health and Social 

Care System 

In December 2017, our Health and Social Care System was the subject of a review by the Care Quality 

Commission (CQC), following which a number of recommendations were made. A plan is in place to 

deliver these actions, progress against these actions are summarised below: 

 Delivered our commissioning intentions with the initial consultation now complete with feedback 

being co-ordinated 

 We are developing and remodelling the care home market with programme governance now in 

place and a project plan now agreed 

 A Project Officer has been appointed to oversee the development and remodelling of the 

domiciliary care market 

 We are engaging with local organisations and developing opportunities to enhance voluntary sector 

engagement 

 We are working with the CCG and providers to deliver a sustainable and transformed Primary 

Care offer using existing strategy and plan 

 We continue to develop our integrated care model with the appointment of a Joint Programme 

Director.  

  

 

 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 22 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

 

CAA5 – Deliver the Safeguarding Improvement Plan for Adults and Children 

Adult Safeguarding 

In order to evaluate and improve practice across our safeguarding network, we have established a multi-

agency strategic safeguarding leads group, which meets regularly to discuss and find solutions to shared 

issues, and utilise links to regional work. The council, both collaboratively with Livewell Southwest and 

internally, are continuing to improve the recording and reliability of data through a series of case audits 

across targeted themes.  

The Safeguarding Adults Board now has an established performance sub-group which allows for greater 

interrogation of performance than previously possible; its focus is on identifying and reporting trends 

and patterns, agreeing responses, and providing assurance. Early performance successes of this group 

include oversight of an improvement in outcomes for those who have been the subject of a safeguarding 

process (see CR7 in the performance report) and a significant improvement in recording at the 

conclusion of the process. This reflects developments in the scrutiny of cases and additional coaching 

across our system. The Council continues to strengthen its strategic and operational engagement with 

the Modern Slavery agenda, and the local Anti-Slavery Partnership is now an established delivery group 

of Safer Plymouth.    

Children’s Safeguarding 

The Plymouth Safeguarding Children’s Board (PSCB) continues to engage senior leaders and ensure the 
safe delivery of safeguarding services during a period of transition from the current legal framework to 

the Children and Social Work Act 2017. The PSCB has highlighted to its Full Board the need to 

commence planning for change, identify key actions, and implement vision within future local 

safeguarding arrangements, which are no longer dependent upon the PSCB vehicle.  

Current efforts include driving effective child-focused evaluation capable of identifying qualitative, rather 

than quantitative, outcomes. Key performance data is in pilot and better informs and measures quality 

across multi-agency practice.  

The PSCB received a 100% response rate to both its Section 175 Education Act 2002 Audits and 

Section 11 Children Act 2004 Audits, and is currently evaluating the returns. These returns will inform 

future work through the new PSCB Scrutiny and Assurance process, which seeks assurance that our 

partner agencies are improving safeguarding practices and promoting the welfare of children. This 

process includes a young safeguarder’s panel to ensure that the voices and experiences of our children 

and young people are heard and acted upon.        

Key activities include the PSCB Annual Conference “Working Together to Tackle Child Sexual Abuse” 

on 21 March, which links into the PSCB endorsed Together for Childhood Campaign – a multi-agency 

strength and resilience based programme to prevent child sexual abuse in Plymouth. The PSCB is 

working on a targeted National Working Group (NWG) Stop Child Sexual Exploitation (STOP CSE) 

Campaign running from 18 March, liaising with B&Bs and hotels and local fairground operators. More 

information about STOP CSE can be found at: http://www.stop-cse.org/. 

Current ongoing challenges include the improvement of GP attendance at Initial Child Protection 

Conferences (ICPCs) and ongoing work to improve multi-agency data, which provides the PSCB with a 

clear context and understanding of CSE in Plymouth and of the child’s lived experience.    

The PSCB continues to monitor the roll-out and impact of the Early Help Offer.  

http://www.stop-cse.org/


PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 23 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

5.4. Inclusive communities 

CAA6 – Deliver the Community Safety Plan 

The Safer Plymouth Plan is made up of the individual Delivery Plans for each of the subgroups of Safer 

Plymouth. Each subgroup now has a completed Delivery Plan which is reported against and monitored 

at partnership meetings. The Chief Executive Department has been working with Commissioning and 

Community Connections and together they have developed a plan that will see the development of a 

performance and management framework for the board and delivery groups. This will allow the 

partnership to operate with more performance and intelligence information than they currently receive. 

The Healthy Relationships programme is one of the key projects led by Safer Plymouth and this 

continues to be piloted in schools, with two pilots commencing during quarter four. This supports the 

priorities and delivery plans of the Child Sexual Exploitation and Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence 

subgroups.  

  

CAA7 – Deliver the Welcoming City Action Plan  

See PIA9 - Welcoming City. 

 

5.5. Reduce health inequalities 

CAA8 – Deliver the Child Poverty Action Plan 

The cross party group met in March 2018 and agreed the set of metrics against which progress will be 

measured during 2018/19. It also recommended that the four theme leads should come from other 

sectors, such as business and the voluntary and community sector, as well as Plymouth City Council 

officers to ensure wider city engagement. The chair of the group will extend invitations to those sectors 

to respond. 

The business-led Plymouth Child in Poverty Conference was held in March 2018. There were 92 

attendees and offers of support are beginning to come from the business sector, including placements 

for young people, offers of free courses for families and direct sponsorship of organisations such as 

Plymouth Foodbank. 

It also requested a timetable of activities to refresh the Child Poverty Action Plan for 2019.       

  

CAA9 – Deliver Thrive Plymouth 

Following its launch in October 2017 there has been a lot of work undertaken in support of the Thrive 

agenda. Partners are working together to agree methods for embedding the five ways to wellbeing 

within the pastoral and support offer to 16-24 year olds, which is being done within educational, training 

and community settings. A key aim is to ensure that young people are engaged. Focus groups have been 

held with young safeguarders on the five ways to wellbeing.  

The first Wellbeing Hub in the city was officially launched on 23 March by Simon Stevens, Head of NHS 

England. The city also hosted a Prevention Concordat for Better Mental Health; this was attended by 

the Head of Public Health England Duncan Selbie, who was complimentary and gave full support to the 

whole system approach being taken in Plymouth. 

 

  

 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 24 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

6. CONFIDENT 

6.1. Priority Activity Highlights 

CONFIDENT - Priority Activity Status 

Council decisions driven by citizen need On Track 

COA1 Residents help to inform Council priorities 

 

On Track 

Plymouth as a destination On Track 

COA2 Deliver the Mayflower National Trail and International Events Programme 

 

On Track 

COA3 Support Destination Plymouth to deliver the Visitor Plan 

 

On Track 

COA4 Support the Culture Board to deliver the Vital Spark Cultural Strategy 

 

On Track 

Improved street scene environment On Track 

COA5 Ensure that the city is kept moving 

 

On Track 

COA6 Deliver the pavements Improvement Programme 

 

On Track 

COA7 Develop and deliver the Plan for the Modernisation of Waste and Street Services 

 

On Track 

COA8 Introduce an initiative to tackle littering and fly-tipping 

 

On Track 

Setting the direction for the South West On Track 

COA9 Strengthen Plymouth’s role in the region through the delivery of priority actions identified in 

the Plymouth Plan 

 

On Track 

COA10 Continue to fight to secure better alternative rail and improved road links 

 

On Track 

COA11 
Take a lead role in establishing the new governance arrangements for the Heart of the South 

West and producing a Productivity Plan 

 

 

On Track 

Motivated, skilled and engaged workforce On Track 

COA12 Deliver the People Strategy 

 

On Track 

 

6.2. Council decisions driven by citizen need 

COA1 – Residents help to inform Council priorities 
The Plymouth City Survey fieldwork took place between 5 February and 26 March 2018. Just over 8,000 

randomly selected residents were sent a survey and covering letter inviting them to complete and 

return their survey by post or online. In total 2,296 responses had been received. Initial results will be 

available to the Council and the Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner in the next quarterly 

report.  

The Plymouth City Council satisfaction survey, using a similar methodology, is still expected to be 

delivered in the autumn of 2018. In the meantime, an audit of existing customer satisfaction surveys 

carried out across the organisation has now been completed to try to identify as far as possible all of 

the pieces of information that are collected, or need to be collected. This will help us to understand 

what our current active customers think about the Council and the services it provides. It will also 

inform a new process that will help to collate and analyse ‘on the ground’/community information on a 

regular basis, so that we are not dependent on the data from resident population surveys as these only 

provide high level information on an annual basis. The audit has also identified current corporate and 

service level indicators which require the views of customers/residents.  



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 25 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

The ‘Winter Works’ scheme has also continued during this quarter, informed by residents’ ideas for 

priority ground works within their wards.  

 

6.3. Plymouth as a destination 

COA2 – Deliver the Mayflower National Trail and International Events 

programme 

A Heritage Lottery Fund application was submitted in March, with a decision on the outcome of this 

due on 19 June. Another funding application to Great Western Railway (GWR) Communities Fund for 
£65k was successful and we are now awaiting a confirmation letter. The City Centre Investment Board 

(CCIB) approved the drawdown of a balance of £1.3 million for houses. Further cases will be submitted 

in July for Monument and water event infrastructure. Renovation work has commenced on Elizabethan 

House with initial architectural surveys, recording and remedial surveying as part of the de-construction 

phase.  

A tender has been submitted for Heritage Trails for content planners and a design team. The first stage 

of commissioning for artists as part of Monument is in process. 

  

COA3 – Support Destination Plymouth to deliver the Visitor Plan 

During January to March we completed the year one activities on the Discover England Fund (DEF) and 
also the final year of the two year Mayflower funding programme. A full evaluation report has been 

produced for Mayflower, which is available. 

A series of over 20 press and trade familiarisation visits has taken place. Additional funding of £88k was 

secured from Visit England to support Mayflower cruise activity, which enabled us to produce 10 

specific Mayflower cruise itineraries and to exhibit at the world’s largest cruise exhibition Sea Trade in 

Fort Lauderdale.  

Expressions of Interest (EOIs) were submitted end of March/early April to DEF for a further two 

projects: Mayflower extension funding and Cruise/conference project working with Southampton.   

  

COA4 – Support the Culture Board to deliver the Vital Spark Cultural 

Strategy 

The Mayflower Community Fund has been launched and conversations have begun with community 

networks regarding potential opportunities, with deadlines for first bids in September. 

A shortlist of artists was drawn up by the stakeholder panel and approved by the Council. Artist visits 

are now underway in Plymouth and managed by UP Projects. 

Assessments of the expressions of interest for the Mayflower Cultural Fund have been completed, with 

decisions being communicated to all applicants. At the same time, additional sources of funding are also 

being sought through the Arts Council for those good proposals that are not being taken forward 

through the Mayflower Cultural Fund. 

The Ambition for Excellence ‘Horizon’ programme is on target to deliver the final element in 
September, with an evaluation process underway and led by two external advisors.   

 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 26 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

COA5 – Ensure that the city is kept moving 

The preliminary design and traffic modelling of the following projects to keep the city moving have been 

successfully completed by March 2018: 

 Preliminary design options and traffic modelling for Crownhill Road re-dualling – traffic signal 

upgrades and modifications to lane usage on Crownhill Road. This is to reduce congestion and 

improve traffic flow. 

 Preliminary design options for the replacement of a traffic signal controlled junction with a mini 

roundabout and zebra crossings at Greenbank Road / Lipson Road. This is to reduce congestion and 

improve pedestrian safety. 
 Design and Traffic Regulation Order schedules for double yellow line removal works in Cattedown, 

Millbay, St Judes and Devonport, which is in addition to a Citywide Project of the removal of 

unnecessary waiting restrictions. This is to support the relocation of inconsiderate and dangerous 

parking to safer designated areas and to improve traffic flow.  

  

COA6 – Deliver the pavements Improvement Programme  

The asset management ethos of delivering the right treatment at the right time has remained constant 

during the delivery of the pavement improvement programme. Footways are prioritised based on 

condition, usage, maintenance category, and whether it forms part of the resilient network. 

Almost one kilometre of footway has been reconstructed under the Living Street improvement 
programme throughout quarter four. 

 

6.4. Improved street scene environment 

COA7 – Develop and deliver the Plan for the Modernisation of Waste and 

Street Services  

The service is seeing a reduction in calls regarding Waste Services again this quarter, with an average of 

3,995 calls per month compared to an average of 4,100 calls per month during quarter three. The 

number of missed bin incidents in quarter four so far averages at 627 per month and is a reduction on 

the average of 673 per month last quarter. These figures indicate that the continued implementation of 
the Modernisation of Waste and Street Services over quarter four is going well. We also continue to 

evidence through our Key Performance Indicators that there has been an increase in recycling, reuse 

and composting tonnages. 

  

COA8 – Introduce an initiative to tackle littering and fly-tipping  

Over the last quarter, Public Health Teams have been out with Street Cleaning and Waste Crews to 

obtain evidence for Fixed Penalty Notices. A new enforcement contract with ‘Kingdom’ commenced on 

the 19 March and sits within Public Protection. Kingdom Security will add extra enforcement officers to 

the streets of the city. These officers will be able to issue on-the-spot fixed penalty notices for littering, 

dog fouling, fly-posting and fly-tipping offences. 

Firmstep processes are being amended to provide clearer reporting on statistics, including fly-tipping 

data, which will be viable for reporting from quarter one 2018/19. 

 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 27 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

6.5. Setting the direction for the South West 

COA9 – Strengthen Plymouth’s role in the region through the delivery of 

priority actions identified in the Plymouth Plan  

The policies for strengthening the city’s strategic role (five in total) are set out in Section 4a of the Joint 

Local Plan (JLP) and are outlined below. 

 Policy PLY1 seeks to enhance Plymouth’s role as a centre and hub for regional services, culture and 

the visitor economy, with a particular focus on the City Centre, Waterfront and the Derriford area. 

 Policy PLY2 identifies the spatial framework of three ‘growth areas’ – the City Centre and 

Waterfront; Derriford and the Northern Corridor, and the Eastern Corridor – for delivering a 

regionally significant scale of growth in new jobs and homes. 

 Policy PLY3 identifies a commitment to wide ranging partnership working at a city and regional level 

to strengthen higher value industries and utilise the city’s regional economic assets. 

 Policy PLY4 seeks to protect and strengthen Devonport Naval Base and the Dockyard’s strategic 

economic and defence role, whilst also setting out key principles relating to the release of surplus 

defence land. 

 Policy PLY5 addressed the strategic minerals role of the city, meeting both regional and national 

objectives.  

These strategic policies set a framework for the Plymouth-specific planning policies of the JLP and also 

provide the strategic framework for a suite of initiatives lead by Council departments in collaboration 

with external partners. These initiatives are aimed at major investment in transport infrastructure, 

natural infrastructure and public realm led by the Strategic Planning and Infrastructure Department, and 

major development and regeneration projects being led by the Economic Development Department. 

These policies are currently being tested through an independent public examination, the hearings for 

which commenced at the end of January 2018. The hearing sessions will be concluding during March, 

although we are anticipating the need to make some modifications to the plan before it can be formally 

adopted.  

Once formally adopted, the JLP will carry significant weight in local decisions whilst also providing a 

strong voice for Plymouth in wider strategic arenas.  

  

COA10 – Continue to fight to secure better alternative rail and improved 

road links  

Better Alternative Rail 

Rail Minister Jo Johnson wrote to the Chair of the PRTF on the 28th February responding to the PRTF’s 

strategic blueprint “Closing the Gap”.  The PRTF welcomes the confirmation that Dawlish is the 

Government’s number one rail priority, but expressed disappointment that there is still no commitment 

to fund and deliver the scheme beyond preferred option.  The PRTF, in its response, has asked for the 

opportunity to brief both the Minister and the Secretary of State in person on the work of the Task 

Force and highlight what its immediate top three priorities are. 

Network Rail presented its latest update to the Peninsula Rail Task Force (PRTF)  in April on the Exeter 

to Newton Abbot resilience project at Dawlish and other flood resilience locations.  Government has 

provided £15m to advance to Approval in Principal design of the preferred design of new sea wall at 

Dawlish; cliff stabilisation and rock fall shelters at the tunnel portals and develop options for reducing 

the steepness of the cliffs at Teignmouth.  The programme is for Network Rail to go out to tender in 

2019/20 with a preferred design and for installation of the first two schemes by 2023 and the last one by 

2026.  These priority areas will require £250m to £350m of funding and will now be subject to DfT’s 

new policy for developing and delivering enhancements to the rail network known as Rail Network 

Enhancement Pipeline process.   



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 28 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

Network Rail are programmed to complete the Phase 1 works at Cowley Bridge Exeter by August 

2018, which involves enlarging the existing culvert and constructing additional culverts to accommodate 

flood water from the river Culm.  Currently funded up to detailed design is the removal of three weirs 

on the River Exe.  Flood modelling will be completed in June 2018 to calculate the benefits of removing 

each of the weirs.  These additional measures will require additional funding, again using the RNEP 

process. 

Network Rail is also progressing the Western Rail Link to Heathrow which with a single change of train 

at Reading would cut the rail journey time between Plymouth and Terminal 5 by 42 minutes, achieving 

an overall journey time of about 3 hours.  The design of this Nationally Significant Infrastructure project 

is reaching maturity with statutory consultation commencing this May ahead of submitting an Outline 

Business Case and securing a funding commitment in 2019.  Main construction of the 6km long twin-

bore tunnels would take place between 2022 and 2027. 

Consultation on the next Great Western franchise (2020 – 2022) closed on the 21st February and 

feedback on the consultation responses from the DfT is now awaited.  Philip Heseltine (PCC) has been 

appointed Chair of the Peninsula Rail Officer Group, which supports the PRTF, and in that role has been 

invited by DfT to participate along with representatives from Transport for Scotland, Transport for the 

North, Midlands Connect and West of England Combined Authority on the forthcoming Cross-Country 

Trains franchise renewal process.   

Following some delays in receiving the sectional running time data for the new Class 802 bi-mode trains, 

the work to design timetable options that allows 2 trains per hour between Plymouth and London 

(Paddington) is now able to progress with results expected in June. 

  

Improved Roads 

In December, the Department for Transport announced their consultation on the Road Investment 

Strategy 2 (RIS2).  In response to this we provided Plymouth’s five RIS2 priorities (derived from the 

work we have undertaken in support of our Joint Local Plan), briefed our MPs and wrote to local 

businesses promoting our ‘Ask’ and seeking their support.  Our five agreed RIS2 priorities are: 

 Widening the A38 between the A386 Manadon Junction and the B3413 at Forder Valley, providing 

additional capacity on a key link where current peak hour delays are frequent 
 Widening the A38 on the approaches to Weston Mill Junction, providing additional capacity on the 

main access to the Naval Base 

 Improvements to Deep Lane Junction including the provision of a Park and Ride site, supporting 

sustainable growth and new development along the city’s Eastern Corridor 

 Capacity and safety enhancements to the A38 Manadon Roundabout, improving Plymouth’s worst 

performing junction with the A38 and A386 at Manadon Roundabout 

 A route based study of the A38 from Exeter to Bodmin, to review existing / future performance of 

the route and inform investment decisions for RIS3. 

Following on from the consultation we have started to work more closely with our neighbours in 

Cornwall who share our vision for an improved A38. A monthly ‘Call for Action’ working group has 

been convened and we have jointly (with Cornwall Council) commissioned Aecom to undertake an A38 

Wider Economic Study to capture the current problems of poor connectivity and wider economic 

benefits forgone as a result of long and unreliable journey times on A38 between Bodmin and Exeter.   

Whilst the results of the study will be finalised in June our indicative findings show an additional £900m 

of productivity growth and induced investment can be gained by improving connectivity along the 

A38. Once finalised, our study will be provided to the Secretary of State for Transport, setting out our 

A38 Case for Action and seeking a positive statement for investment in the A38 in Highway England’s 

Strategic Business Plan (2019).   



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 29 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

The study has strong political support from Sheryll Murray MP for South East Cornwall who is working 

together with other local MPs and Highways England through the local A38 Working Group.  

 

COA11 – Take a lead role in establishing the new governance arrangements 

for the Heart of the South West (HotSW) and producing a Productivity Plan 

The meeting of the Joint Committee was cancelled in early March due to bad weather and was 

rearranged for the 23 March. 

A very positive meeting was held between HotSW leaders and senior civil servants in January, followed 

by a workshop session with Chief Executives in February. This led to a large number of agreed actions, 

both for the partnership, and for civil servants in terms of raising the profile of the Heart of the South 

West with Government and progressing ‘Asks’ with Ministers. 

The draft Productivity Strategy was completed on time and is ready to be endorsed. Work has 

commenced on developing the Delivery Plan, initially capturing existing work streams. 

 

6.6. Motivated, skilled and engaged workforce 

COA12 – Deliver the People Strategy 

The People Strategy was endorsed by Cabinet on 30 May 2017. This has been published on our web 

pages and communicated to our workforce through a range of channels. 

For our Talent theme, a new strategic organisational design was agreed by Full Council in January 2018. 

A new Strategic Director for Children’s Services was agreed and appointed at the February Chief 

Officers Appointments Panel. Following this appointment an Interim Service Director for Children, 

Young People and Families Services commenced their role in March. 

 Our apprenticeship target for 2018 is 2.5% and we currently stand at 1.25%. We promoted 

apprenticeships at the Team Plymouth event in March 2018 and continue to work with managers to 

identify opportunities are available for existing and new staff through the levy. We are monitoring this 

on a monthly basis to ensure that we meet our target.  

We have delivered draft strategic workforce plans across all service areas, which are currently being 

reviewed and finalised. They will deliver succession plans for all business critical roles, including SLT 
members. Candidates for our first talent pool are being identified and will be in place by the end of June. 

Under the Leadership theme, 135 managers across the organisation have now attended the 

Management Fundamentals programme. We are developing an evaluation framework to assess the 

difference the programme has made to manager competence and confidence. The next cohort will be 

made up of aspiring managers; part of building a strong talent pipeline within the organisation as outlined 

in our People Strategy. 

Managers are working towards completing their Manager’s Driving Licence. The goal was for all 

managers to complete by 29 March. At this date the completion rate stood at 65%.  We are continuing 

to report progress to CMT on a monthly basis. The Senior Leadership Team undertook a ‘strengths for 

leadership’ programme designed to create an empowering and inclusive leadership culture in line with 

the People Strategy 2016-2020. This will also help to address concerns raised through the staff survey 

about visibility of and trust in senior leaders across the organisation. 

For the Culture theme, the Staff Survey was discussed at the Place and Corporate Overview Scrutiny. 

Overall, Members believe that the results are positive. Senior leads from service areas attended to share 

their action plans to ensure that there are improvements as a result of the feedback shared by staff. 

 We have begun a series of culture conversations across the organisation to explore how we can be at 

our best. The Way We Work programme is now also being rolled out; this will help us to link smarter 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

 

CORPORATE PLAN ACTIVITY UPDATES Page 30 of 30 

OFFICIAL 

working with improved communications and increased engagement. This will be measured through the 

strategic workforce plans and the staff survey. 



 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS REPORT OFFICIAL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS 

REPORT 
Quarter Four – 2017/18

 

 

  



  PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS REPORT 

OFFICIAL Page 2 of 17 

CONTENTS 

 

1. INTRODUCTION ................................................................................................................................... 3 

1.1. The Corporate Plan ................................................................................................................................. 3 

1.2. Structure of this Report ......................................................................................................................... 3 

2. SUMMARY ................................................................................................................................................. 4 

3. PIONEERING PLYMOUTH – QUARTER FOUR PERFORMANCE, 2017/18 .......................... 5 

3.1. Performance Analysis .............................................................................................................................. 6 

4. GROWING PLYMOUTH – QUARTER FOUR PERFORMANCE, 2017/18 .............................. 8 

5. CARING PLYMOUTH – QUARTER FOUR PERFORMANCE, 2017/18 ................................... 9 

5.1. Performance Analysis ............................................................................................................................ 10 

6. CONFIDENT PLYMOUTH – QUARTER FOUR PERFORMANCE, 2017/18 ......................... 15 

6.1. Performance Analysis ............................................................................................................................ 17 



  PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS REPORT 

OFFICIAL Page 3 of 17 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 

1.1. The Corporate Plan   
 

The Corporate Plan 2016-19 sets out our vision to be ‘One team serving our city’. 

 

 
 

The Corporate Plan is supported by activity that is coordinated through strategic and operational plans to 

deliver specific outcomes. Performance indicators measure progress towards those outcomes.  

The purpose of this report is to provide an analysis of risk-informed performance against the indicators 

(where data is available) in headings: 

 Pioneering  

 Growing 

 Caring  

 Confident. 

 

1.2. Structure of this Report  

PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS BY EXCEPTION 

Exception reporting will be made where performance shows significant change or differs from the target by 
a notable margin or where the level of risk indicates a potential issue. This will help to ensure 

consideration of performance is focused on those areas where action / intervention are most likely to be 

required. 

TREND (RAG) COLUMN – COLOUR SCHEME 

A trend rating is provided for both annual and quarterly performance. This gives a visual indication of 

whether the figure is improving or declining based on the two latest periods for which information is 

available e.g. quarter two 2017/18 compared to quarter one 2017/18, or for annual indicators 2017/18 

compared to 2016/17. 

 



  PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS REPORT 

OFFICIAL Page 4 of 17 

 

 Indicators highlighted green show where the latest value has improved by more than 2.5% on the 

previous value or is on an expected trend 

 Indicators highlighted amber show where the latest value is between plus and minus 2.5% of the 

previous value (slight improvement/decline) 

 Indicators highlighted red show where the latest value has declined by more than 2.5% on the 

previous value 

 Indicators not highlighted have stayed the same, have no trend, or the most recent value is not 

comparable with previous values (for example, a change in methodology). 

TARGET (RAG) COLUMN - COLOUR SCHEME 
 Indicators highlighted green show where Plymouth is better than target 

 Indicators highlighted amber show where Plymouth is within 15% of target 

 Indicators highlighted red show where Plymouth is 15% worse than target 

 Indicators not highlighted or N/A show where no in year data is available to compare against 

target. 

CHANGES TO HISTORICAL PERFORMANCE 

Please be aware that often data is extracted from live systems and as such some historical data may be 

adjusted in quarter following additional data input and system updates. Performance in this document 

represents the most current and accurate figures available; however in a minority of cases it may differ 

from previous reports. 

 

2. SUMMARY 
 

This report provides exception-based performance analysis against the Corporate Plan indicators. 

Performance indicators also support improvement within our four organisational priorities relating to: 

Customer service – Customer standards are being developed with service areas as part of broader 

work on the Customer Service Strategy, including a new set of standards for all staff in responding to 

enquiries from Councillors (casework). More information on indicators informing this area can be found in 

section 3.1 

Care Quality Commission review – In December 2017, Plymouth was the subject of a review of our 

local health and social care system from the Care Quality Commission (CQC). The review focused on 

issues within/across the health and care systems. Following this review a number of recommendations 

were made and progress against these is updated within the corporate plan activity report. Within the 

Caring section of this report CR5 and CR6 provides an update on delayed transfers of care performance, 

an indicator linked closely to the health and care system 

Elections – we continue to work to improve our electoral services with a focus on capability, resilience 

and robustness. We have acted upon recommendations from the independent investigation following the 

June 2017 General Election and are implementing the improvement plan, which is being overseen by the 

new Head of Electoral Services. A group of officers are working with and supporting the core Electoral 

Services team, with the shared aim of restoring confidence and trust in the Council’s ability to deliver a 

high-quality service for voters and those standing for election. Through effective identification and 

mitigation of issues, our confidence in delivering a successful local election in May is very high. More 

information on indicators informing this area can be found in section 6.1 (CO1) 

Street services – A group to understand and improve interactions between Customer Services and 

Street Scene and Waste Services has been focusing on improving customer experiences, including ensuring 

customers receive timely feedback and accurate information. This group involves Customer Services, 

Digital Services and Street Services and Waste teams to drive through sustainable improvements.  

http://documentlibrary.plymcc.local/documents/CustomerServiceStrategy1518.pdf


      PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS REPORT 

OFFICIAL        Page 5 of 17 

3. PIONEERING PLYMOUTH – QUARTER FOUR PERFORMANCE, 2017/18 
 

 

Performance data will also be provided on the following annual indicators when the data becomes available: 

 PO8 – % Information Access complaints referred to the ICO (Information Commissioners Office) which are upheld (Indicator under review) 

 PO9 – % Data Breach complaints referred to ICO which are upheld (Indicator under review) 

 PO11 – Maintain a high percentage of customers satisfied with our services (next data delivery: quarter one 2018/19) 

 PO12 - Increase in the (£m) value of income from commercial services (Please see exception report below) 

 PO13 – Maximise ROI (net yield) on each commercial estate investment (next data delivery: quarter two 2018/19) 

 PO14 – Increase the "Total Occupancy Rate" of all commercial properties owned by PCC (next data delivery: quarter two 2018/19).

Ind.ID Indicator

City or 

Corp 

Indicator

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Annual 

Performance 

Improving/ 

Declining? 

England
Comp. 

Group

England 

Quartile 

Ranking

Q1 

2017/18

Q2 

2017/18

Q3 

2017/18

Q4 

2017/18

Quarterly 

Performance 

Improving/ 

Declining?

Target 

(RAG)

Quarterly Indicators - Financial Year

PO1 Increase the uptake of digital services by our customers Corporate 17% 34% Improving 31% 38% 29% 39% Improving 44%

PO2
Maintain a high percentage of customers satisfied with our 

digital services.
Corporate 74% 63% Declining 95%

PO3
Maintain a high percentage of complaints responded to within 

timeframe
Corporate 96% 99% 97% Slight Decline 94% 98% 98% 98% Same 95%

PO4 £ Variance to budget (forecast outturn) Corporate -£0.032m £0.000m £2.411m Declining £4.259m £3.277m £1.494m £2.411m Declining £0.000m

PO5 % Variance to budget (forecast outturn) Corporate -0.02% 0.00% 1.31% Declining 2.32% 1.78% 0.81% 1.31% Declining +/- 2%

PO6 Average borrowing rate Corporate 3.94% 2.61% 2.41% Improving 2.55% 2.37% 2.35% 2.38% Slight Decline 3.5%

PO7 Average investment return Corporate 1.33% 1.69% 1.54% Declining 1.72% 1.47% 1.62% 1.34% Declining 1.3%

PIONEERING PLYMOUTH - We will be innovative by design, and deliver services that are more accountable, flexible and efficient

Not comparable with 

previous data.



  PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS REPORT 

OFFICIAL Page 6 of 17 

74%

63%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q3
2017/18

Q4 2017/18

PO2 - Maintain a high percentage of customers satisfied with our 
digital services

3.1. Performance Analysis  
 

PO1 - Increase the uptake of digital services by our customers 

There has been an increase in digital 

transactions and the percentage of 
channel shift to self-service when 

compared to quarter three.  

The most commonly used process via 

the Service channel is the ‘report waste 

collection issue back office process’. This 

process is used by the Contact Centre 

to log a case when a refuse collector 

calls in to report that they were unable 

to collect refuse. When there is an 

increase in the calls made by the refuse 

collectors via the Service channel (13,253 calls in quarter three), the percentage of processes 

raised via the Self channel is reduced. In quarter four there were fewer calls received via Service 

(5,832), which saw the percentage of processes via Self return to levels similar to those in quarter 

two. 

To maintain this imroved performance, the Digital and System Services team are: continuing to 

work with Street Scene and Waste Services, Public Protection Services and Highways to digitise 

their processes that are not currently available digitally; working with the Customer Services 

department to ensure that customers are aware that they can now complete some of their 

requests digitally; guiding the customer to use the online forms via the Contact Centre, First Stop 

Shop and all Plymouth Libraries; and promoting online portals via correspondence, for example 

Council Tax payers and Business Rate payers.  

 

PO2 - Maintain a high percentage of customers satisfied with our digital 

services 

The Plymouth City Council website pages provide the customer with the ability to rate their 

digital interaction.  

In October, we made changes to the way that 

we capture customer satisfaction, giving a 

more accurate view from that point forward. 

By making this initial change, the reported 
result increased from 41% to 75%. 

The Council’s performance for quarter four 

declined to 63%. To work towards the 

majority of customer feedback relating to the 

website content instead of satisfaction with 

our services, the Digital Services Team are 

currently testing further changes to bring Plymouth City Council in line with best practices 

followed by other authorities. This includes changing the navigation of feedback entry so that the 

customer provides their feedback regarding use of the website before rating the content of the 

website (using the ‘smilies’). 



  PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS REPORT 

OFFICIAL Page 7 of 17 

PO12 – Increase in the (£m) value of income from commercial services  

This key performance indicator has been confirmed as obsolete at this time. Ownership of the 

management of departmental budgets and income is not held centrally by the finance department. 

Current ownership is with the individual directorates / departments and therefore monitoring 

centrally is not in place. 

During quarter one of 2018/19 the Head of Commercial Finance will be considering a commercial 

services strategy with the aim to support directorates increase their income from commecial 

services whilst re-introducing a level of monitoring centrally.



  PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL  

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS REPORT 

OFFICIAL       Page 8 of 17 

4. GROWING PLYMOUTH – QUARTER FOUR PERFORMANCE, 2017/18 

 

Performance data will also be provided on the following annual indicators when the data becomes available: 

 GR4 – Increase the number of jobs in Plymouth (next data delivery: quarter three 2018/19) 

 GR5 – Increase the number of higher level apprenticeship starts (next data delivery: quarter two 2018/19) 

 GR6 – Net Additional Homes (next data delivery: quarter one 2018/19) 
 GR7 – Reduce carbon emissions (next data delivery: quarter two 2018/19) 

 GR8 – Increase the value of the City’s GVA (Gross value added per Hour - indices) (next data delivery: quarter three 2018/19) 

 GR9 - Increase the percentage of Key Stage 4 pupils achieving a standard 9-4 pass in English and Maths (next data delivery: quarter three 2018/19) 

 

 

 

Please note: No exception reporting has been provided within the Growing section as all indicators are within tolerance.  

 

 

Ind.

ID
Indicator

City or 

Corp 

Indicator

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Annual 

Performance 

Improving/ 

Declining? 

England
Comp. 

Group

England 

Quartile 

Ranking

Q1 

2017/18

Q2 

2017/18

Q3 

2017/18

Q4 

2017/18

Quarterly 

Performance 

Improving/ 

Declining?

Target 

(RAG)

GR1
Increase proportion of young people in academic years 12-14 

who are  in Education, Employment or Training (EET)
Corporate 89.7% 89.0% 1st 89.3% 89.9% 90.0% 90.0% Same 90%

GR2 Number Employed (Previous 12 months) (Quarter in Arrears) City 125,200 127,100
Slight 

Improvement
128,500 127,100 126,300

Available 

quarter 

one

Slight Decline To Increase

GR3 % Employment rate  (16 - 64 population) (Quarter in Arrears) City 71.1 74.6 74.8
Slight 

Improvement
74.4

75.3 

(HOTSW)
3rd 75.6 74.8 74.6

Available 

quarter 

one

Slight Decline To Increase

GROWING PLYMOUTH - We will make our city a great place to live by creating opportunities for better learning and greater investment, with more jobs 

and homes.

Quarterly Indicators- Financial Year

Data not available due to definition change



      PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS REPORT 

OFFICIAL       Page 9 of 17 

5. CARING PLYMOUTH – QUARTER FOUR PERFORMANCE, 2017/18 

 

Performance data will also be provided on the following annual indicators when the data becomes available: 
 CR11 – The proportion of people who use services who say that those services make them feel safe and secure (next data delivery: quarter one 2018/19) 

 CR12 – Overall satisfaction of people who use services with their care and support (next data delivery: quarter one 2018/19) 

 CR13 – Close the gap in life expectancy between the most and least deprived areas (next data delivery: quarter two 2018/19).

Ind.ID Indicator

City or 

Corp 

Indicator

2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Annual 

Performance 

Improving/ 

Declining? 

England

2016/17

Comp. 

Group

2016/17

England 

Quartile 

Ranking

2016/17

Q1 

2017/18

Q2 

2017/18

Q3 

2017/18

Q4 

2017/18

Quarterly 

Performance 

Improving/ 

Declining?

Target 

(RAG)

CR1
Improve safeguarding through increased success in achieving 

the "Families with a future" Outcome Framework (cumulative)
Corporate 54 271 395 Improving 287 294 303 395 Improving 383

CR2
Increase the percentage of eligible two year olds taking up free 

early education places 
City 89.0% 92.0% 90.0% Slight decline 68.0% 69.1% 1st 87.5% 91.0% 93.0% 86.0% Declining 90.0%

CR3
 % of young people with Special Educational Needs and 

Disabilities (SEND) in education, employment and training
City 87.0% 91.0% 86.2% Declining 89.7% 89.0% 1st 86.0% 89.2% 87.3% 86.2% Slight Decline 87.0%

CR4 Children's Safeguarding timing of Assessments. Corporate 91.4% 94.6% 76.0% Declining 81.5% 77.6% 2nd 81.7% 71.1% 70.6% 76.0% Improving 88.0%

CR5
Delayed transfers of care from hospital per 100,000 population, 

whole system (rate based on average of delayed days per day) 
City 15.7 21.5 27.6 Declining 12.9 4th 29.2 26.0 22.9 32.6 Declining 14.0

CR6

Delayed transfers of care from hospital per 100,000 population, 

whole attributable to ASC (rate based on average of delayed 

days per day)

City 9.3 9.5 9.2 Improving 4.6 4th 10.4 11.9 9.9 5.7 Improving 3.7

CR7
% of completed safeguarding enquiries where risk has been 

identified and reduced or removed 
City 70.5% 86.4% 89.5% Improving 88.0% 90.0% 86.6% 92.0% Improving 75%

CR8 Average number of households in Bed & Breakfast Corporate 25.0 41.0 53.7 Declining 57.9 53.3 57.4 46.2 Improving 33

CR9 Number of households prevented from becoming homeless Corporate 1030 948 900 Declining 198 263 175 264 Improving 237

CR10
People helped to live in their own homes through the provision 

of a major adaptation (cumulative)
Corporate 286 248 297 Improving 58 105 183 297 Improving 260

CARING PLYMOUTH - We will work with our residents to have happy, healthy and connected communities where people lead safe and fulfilled lives.

Quarterly Indicators - Financial Year



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS REPORT 

OFFICIAL Page 10 of 17 

80%
89% 92% 90%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

CR2 - Increase the percentage of eligible two year olds taking up free 
early education places 

Target Englend

86.0% 89.2% 87.3% 86.2%

0%

20%

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q1 2017/18 Q2 2017/18 Q3 2017/18 Q4 2017/18

CR3 - % of young people with Special Educational Needs and 
Disabilities (SEND) in education, employment and training

Target England

5.1. Performance Analysis 
 

CR2 - Increase the percentage of eligible two year olds taking up free 

early education places 

Based on 2016/17 benchmarking 

information, Plymouth is in the top 

quartile nationally for performance 

against this indicator. We remain 17 

percentage points above the national 

average and 18 percentage points above 

the statistical neighbour average. 

However, in a continual bid to improve, 

a target that promotes a 0.5% year-on-

year increase had been included for 

2017/18. Throughout quarter two and quarter three, this target had been exceeded. In quarter 
four however, there has been a decrease, putting this quarter’s ‘take-up’ four percentage points 

behind our target. The 7% reduction seen in quarter four is in line with trends seen at the same 

point in the previous year. Reasons for the decline in quarter four may be due to parents’ 

preference to start in the summer and autumn terms, and the number of spaces that providers 

have available. Regardless, the service is monitoring the effects of the new 30 hour free childcare 

for three and four year olds and the impact of the Welfare Reform on the two year old ‘take-up’ 

to ensure that any impacts are identified early.  

At year end (April 2017 – March 2018), the average ‘take-up’ of free early education places for 

two year olds is 90%. This means that we have met our target and exceeded our benchmarks by 

more than 20 percentage points. 

 

CR3 - % of young people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities 

(SEND) in education, employment and training  

Young people with Special 

Educational Needs (SEND) in 

Years 12 – 14 are identified as 

those with an Education, Health 

and Care Plan (EHCP). Plymouth 

is in the top quartile for 

performance against this indicator 

based on 2016/17 data, which is 

the most recently available 

benchmarking information. A 

decrease in young people with 

SEND in Education, Employment 

and/or Training (EET) can be seen in quarter four. This is in line with trends seen in the previous 

year.  

Performance sits 0.7 percentage points below target; however, in comparison to the previous 

year the percentage of young people with SEND in EET has increased. In quarter three of 2016 

the average was 86.5% (0.9 percentage point increase in quarter three 2017/187) and in quarter 

four of 2017, the average was 85.7% (0.5 percentage point increase seen this quarter).  



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS REPORT 

OFFICIAL Page 11 of 17 

 

CR4 – Children's Safeguarding timing of Assessments 

Performance against timeliness for Single 

Assessments has proved challenging in 

2017/18. Year to date timeliness has 

increased at the end of quarter four, and 

stands at 76% against a target of 88%. 

This improvement brings Plymouth 

closer to both the comparator (78%) and 

national (82%) averages.  

Lower performance in quarters two and 

three was influenced by a number of 

factors, including the implementation of new 

practice standards focusing on quality of 

assessment, and a change in Head of Service and 

Service Manager Personnel. In quarter four, 

timeliness for new assessments was reported at 

circa 90%, which has helped to lift the year to 

date performance (see chart opposite for March 

2018). This most recent performance also 

benchmarks well against national averages, which 

is an indication that performance is much 

improved. The chart below compares Plymouth’s 

March performance to national averages and 

shows that we are completing a higher 

percentage within 45 days.  

 

The service is now 

well placed to deliver 

improved timeliness 

going forward. The 

situation is being 

closely monitored and 

improvement in 

performance is 

expected to continue. 

A proposed target of 

90% for 2018/19 

reflects this.  

 

 

 

 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS REPORT 

OFFICIAL Page 12 of 17 

CR5 and CR6 – Delayed Transfers of Care (Health and Social Care 

System performance) 

During quarter four the average number 

of delayed days per month was 2,073, 

which compares to 1,485 in quarter 
three. Our system remains challenged 

with an increase in quarter four in the 

number and proportion of patients with 

complex needs. This increase in demand 

was impacted by winter pressures. 

During March 2018 there has been an 

improvement in performance and we 

would hope that this will continue into 

2018/19. Despite this improvement, the 

number of delays across the whole 

system remains high and is not achieving 

target. In quarter four there has been a 

decrease in the number of delays that are 

attributable to Adult Social Care (see 

chart CR6).  

Waiting for an assessment, awaiting 

further NHS care and awaiting a 

residential home placement continue to 

be the most common reasons for a 

delay. We track the distribution of delays 

from an acute setting (Derriford Hospital) and a non-acute setting (Mount Gould). The chart 

below illustrates this split and highlights that the higher numbers of delays come from an acute 

setting; this is also the case on a national level. Over the winter period, however, there has been 

a pressure on community delays and resources will be focused to ensure reductions across both 

settings. Through weekly submissions to the Local Government Association we are able to track 

that the number of delays at both Derriford and Mount Gould are reducing during April.  

 

Through the System Improvement Board, all system partners remain committed to focusing on 

improving performance. An improvement plan is in place, which includes the appointment of the 

Interim Director of Integrated Urgent Care, the development of the Acute Assessment Unit to 

assist in preventing unnecessary admissions to hospital, and the rolling out of a home first 

approach. Other interventions include the procurement of new domiciliary care capacity with a 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS REPORT 

OFFICIAL Page 13 of 17 

focus on seven day working, the recruitment of additional dedicated social workers, and the 

implementation of a bed bureau to secure better access to care home beds. 

 

CR8 – Average numbers of households in Bed and Breakfast (B&B) 

Quarter four performance saw the 
average number of B&B stays for the 

quarter reduce to 46. This is a positive 

reflection on the hard work that the 

Community Connections team has put in 

to manage demand, increase provision 

and support move on. We are continuing 

to look for alternative options for 

emergency accommodation and are 

working with providers to increase 

provision. Houselet continues to provide 

accommodation for families but we are 

still working with the provider to access more properties, give better turnaround and flexibility 

to help us to accommodate more families. 

Supported temporary accommodation provision has increased over the last nine months from 

42 to 53. We are now expecting provision to increase to 58 by July 2018. This will reduce our 

need for bed and breakfast accommodation for single people. The chart below illustrates that 

since the period of highest pressure in autumn 2017 we are on a reducing trajectory to lower 

the number of individual stays within B&B.  

 

Other interventions to continue this reduction include: 

 We are working with Partners to reduce the number of households in B&B and to see 

how they can support reductions through efficiencies and prevention 

 We have refocused some Community Connections staff to proactively and robustly move 

those in B&B into more appropriate accommodation 

 We have set up a Multi-Disciplinary Team with partners to troubleshoot and provide move 

on from B&B 

 We are working with partners to look at training and an evictions policy across the 

homelessness pathway to ensure that partners are supporting us with B&B avoidance 

 Use of a Creative Solution Forum, multi-agency approach to problem solving to look at 

some cases and find solutions. 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS REPORT 

OFFICIAL Page 14 of 17 

CR9 – Number of households prevented from becoming homeless 

Prevention of homelessness 

increased in quarter four with 264 

households prevented from 

becoming homeless; up from 175 in 

quarter three. This means that we 

achieved the quarterly target of 

237, for the whole of 2017/18 

prevention activity has decreased. 

Work has been undertaken with 

the Housing Access team to ensure 

that we are maximising prevention 

and working with people to, where 

possible, keep them in their current 

homes whilst helping them to solve their impending homelessness. The success of this indicator 

impacts on the average number of households in B&B that has been previously reported on in 

this section.  

The increasing demand in people presenting to the local authority as being at risk of 

homelessness is reflected by one of the Council’s strategic risks (amber risk SCEO1) with 

regards to a risk of increased poverty and hardship as a result of the impact of Welfare Reform 

and reduced funding for discretionary welfare funds. Activities underway to try to mitigate this 

risk include the Welfare Reform Framework having been adopted, and the implementation of 

plans and strategies to create jobs. Support also continues to Credit Unions and other financial 

inclusion initiatives.  

 

CR10 – People helped to live at home through provision of a major 

adaptation 

By providing major adaptations 

through a DFG (Disabled Facilities 

Grant) we are helping people with 

disabilities to live at home. 

Interventions including a pilot to 

install stair lifts at the request of 

Occupational Therapists have helped 

to increase the number of home 

adaptations during quarter four, thus 

increasing the number of people 

helped to live at home. During the 

year the gap between activity and 

target had been closing and sustained 

performance improvement in quarter four means that by year end the 2017/18 target has been 

exceeded. Additional funding via the autumn budget helped to contribute to this performance 

and we are working to embed practices that maintain this performance in 2018/19.   



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS REPORT 

OFFICIAL       Page 15 of 17 

6. CONFIDENT PLYMOUTH – QUARTER FOUR PERFORMANCE, 2017/18 

 

  
 

Ind.

ID
Indicator 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17

Annual 

Performance 

Improving/ 

Declining? 

England
Comp. 

Group

England 

Quartile 

Ranking

Q1 

2017/18

Q2 

2017/18

Q3 

2017/18

Q4 

2017/18

Quarterly 

Performance 

Improving/ 

Declining?

Target 

(RAG)

CO1 Increase the volume of residents registered to vote 177,442 180,325 184,624 Improving 196,019 194,541 189,308 192,798 On Trend On Trend

CO2
Staff sickness in days (average number of days sickness per FTE in 

a rolling 12 months)
8.56 6.87 7.65 Declining 10.4 9.7 6.73 7.05 7.15 7.72 Declining 7.40

Ind.

ID
Indicator 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18

Annual 

Performance 

Improving/ 

Declining? 

England
Comp. 

Group

England 

Quartile 

Ranking

CO4
Increase the value of local community projects benefitting from 

non Council funding
£2,711,542 £3,921,462 Improving

CONFIDENT PLYMOUTH - We will work towards creating a more confident city, being proud of what we can offer and building on growing our 

reputation nationally and internationally

Quarterly Indicators - Financial Year

Target (RAG)

Annual Indicators - Financial Year

£2,800,000

Ind.

ID
Indicator 2015 2016 2017

Annual 

Performance 

Improving/ 

Declining? 

England
Comp. 

Group

England 

Quartile 

Ranking

CO11 An increase in Visitor Numbers 4,965,000 5,116,000
Available 

2019
Improving

CO12 An increase in Visitor Spend £316,553m £321,767m
Available 

2019

Slight 

Improvement

CO13 Residents satisfaction with reduction in City congestion levels. 43.0% 43.1% 40% Declining 53%

CO14
Residents are satisfied with the condition of roads and pavements 

in the city
50%* 52%* 52% Same 55%

Target (RAG)

Annual Indicators - Calendar Year

4,638,733

£319.353m

44%

59%



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS REPORT 

OFFICIAL       Page 16 of 17 

Performance data will also be provided on the following annual indicators when the data becomes available: 

 CO3 – Improved recycling rate (next data delivery: quarter one 2018/19) 

 CO5 – Percentage of residents who are satisfied with Plymouth as a place to live (next data delivery: quarter one 2018/19) 

 CO6 – Percentage of people who feel they can influence decisions (in their locality) (next data delivery: quarter one 2018/19) 

 CO7 – Reduce the percentage of waste going to landfill (next data delivery: quarter one 2018/19) 

 CO8 – Reduce the incidents of fly-tipping (next data delivery: quarter three 2018/19 ) 

 CO9 – Reduced rail journey times between Plymouth/London (minutes) (quarter four 2018/19) 

 CO10 – An increase in the city's population (next data delivery: quarter one 2018/19) 

 CO11 – An increase in visitor numbers (next data delivery: quarter four 2018/19) 

 CO12 – An increase in visitor spend (next data delivery: quarter four 2018/19) 
 CO13 – Residents’ satisfaction with reduction in City congestion levels (next data delivery: quarter three 2018/19) 

 CO14 – Residents are satisfied with the condition of roads and pavements in the city (next data delivery: quarter three 2018/19). 

 

 



PLYMOUTH CITY COUNCIL 

CORPORATE PLAN PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS REPORT 

OFFICIAL Page 17 of 17 

6.73

7.05 7.15

7.72

6.00

6.50

7.00

7.50

8.00

Q1 2017/18 Q2
2017/18

Q3
2017/18

Q4 2017/18

CO2 - Staff sickness in days
(Average number of days sickness per FTE in a rolling 12 months)

CO2 Target

 

6.1. Performance Analysis 
 

CO1 - Increase the number of residents registered to vote 

The Council has a current strategic risk 

regarding electoral services which is 

rated amber (Strategic Risk SCE02). 

This references potential failure to 

deliver effective electoral services 

functions due to inadequate resourcing 

and processes and lack of appropriately 

qualified staff. A key element of delivery 

is a duty to maintain an accurate 

register of the electorate. 

Since the 2017 canvass in December, 

the focus has been on preparation activities for the local elections on 3 May 2018. This includes the 

following actions to ensure that the electoral register is as up to date as possible: 

 Media campaigns to encourage residents to register but also to provide guidance around opting 

in to or out of postal and proxy voting (including official deadlines) 

 Processing late ‘post-canvass’ changes – for example new home owners/tenants returning the 

Household Enquiry Forms after publication of the December register 

 General maintenance – for example: 

o People moving into or out of the city 

o Removing residents who have passed away 

o Removing ‘pending’ deletions following final notifications. 

The overall register which covers the entire Plymouth electorate contained 192,798 electors; this is an 

increase of 3,490 on the quarter three position. A total of 36,358 electors (18.8%) were recorded as 

postal voters. 

From a local election perspective, the electorate stood at 187,156 – this number excludes Plympton St 

Erle (as there is no local election in 2018 for this ward) and those who reside overseas. 34,519 or 

18.6% opted for postal voting. 

 

CO2 - Staff sickness in days 

The Council-wide target for sickness was set at 7.40 days per full time equivalent (FTE) for 2017/18. 

The corporate sickness outturn for 2017/18 is 7.72 days per FTE, which is higher than the corporate 

target by 0.32 days. 

There was an increase of 0.36 days in 

the average number of days lost to 

sickness between December 2017 (7.15 

days) and January 2018 (7.51 days), 

which has continued to increase 

throughout quarter four.  

The main reasons for short term 

absence are musculoskeletal and 

cold/flu, with long term absence a result 

of stress / depression / psychological 

and musculoskeletal related sickness. Long term sickness data could reflect the same member of staff 

having more than one period of absence during the rolling year. 





Performance, Finance and Customer 
Focus Overview Scrutiny Committee
Work Programme 2018-2019

Please note that the work programme is a ‘live’ document and subject to change at 
short notice. The information in this work programme is intended to be of strategic 
relevance.

For general enquiries relating to the Council’s Scrutiny function, including this Committee’s work 
programme, please contact Helen Prendergast, Democratic Adviser on 01752 304022.

Date of 
meeting

Agenda item Prioritisation 
Score

Reason for consideration Responsible 
Cabinet Member / 

Officer 

Corporate Finance 
Monitoring Report Q4 and 

Outturn

Councillor 
Lowry/Andrew 

Hardingham

27 June 2018

Corporate Monitoring Q4

Councillor 
Lowry/Siân 

Millard/Andrew 
Loton

8 August 
2018

Corporate Finance 
Monitoring Report Q1

Councillor 
Lowry/Andrew 

Hardingham10 October 
2018

Corporate Monitoring Q1

Councillor 
Lowry/Siân 

Millard/Andrew 
Loton

Corporate Finance 
Monitoring Report Q2

Councillor 
Lowry/Andrew 

Hardingham12 
December 

2018 Corporate Monitoring Q2
Councillor 
Lowry/Siân 

Millard/Andrew 
Loton

Staff Survey13 February 
2019

20 March 
2019

Items to be scheduled 2018/19

Customer Satisfaction Survey

Homelessness Action Plan



Date of 
meeting

Agenda item Prioritisation 
Score

Reason for consideration Responsible 
Cabinet Member / 

Officer 

Site Visits

Select Committee Reviews

Sept 2018 Gypsies and Travellers 
Unauthorised Camps Member request

Feb 2019 Universal Credit Recommendation from the Select 
Committee Review hold in March 2018

Joint Select Committee Reviews


	Agenda
	5 Terms of Reference
	6 Corporate Finance Monitoring Report Q4 and Outturn
	7 Corporate Performance Monitoring Report Q4
	Q4201718CorporatePlanActivityUpdateFinal
	Q4201718CorporatePlanPerformanceReportFinal

	8 Work Programme



